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In 2008 SSSG was 0.7%
The primary driver for yield growth of the Fund is SSSG. In the last 10 

years Boston Pizza restaurants nationwide have averaged over 5.7% 

SSSG and have not experienced a negative SSSG year.

Store Openings in 2008: 25
Total locations as at December 31, 2008 323

System-wide Gross Sales & Franchise Sales
Compound annual growth of system-wide gross sales over the last 10 years 

17.2%

System-Wide Gross Sales in 2008: $831 million
Franchise Sales in 2008 $659 million

0

2

4

6

8

10

99 00 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 

5.7%

4.0%
5.1%

8.8%

5.3%
4.1%

6.8%
8.0% 8.4%

0.7%

P
ER

C
EN

T

YEAR

0
50

100
150
200
250
300
350

99 00 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 
YEAR

300

125
135 148 163

178 195
226

266

323

U
N

IT
S

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800

99 00 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 
YEAR

C
$ 

M
IL

LI
O

N
S

659

160 188 225 272 300
352

417
521

604

194 229
270 332

370 435
513

647

831
755

STABILITY
An Experienced Franchisor
The “Three Pillars” strategy is the backdrop of all decision making that 

has underpinned the development and success of Boston Pizza.

1. A Commitment to Franchisee Profitability
The best way to ensure the success of the Fund, the company, and the 

brand is to ensure the success of the franchisees.

2. A Commitment to Building the Boston Pizza 
Brand
Having a strong and recognizable brand that consumers trust and want 

to do business with creates value for all stakeholders.

3. A Commitment to Continually Improving the 
Customer Experience
45 years of focus and effort towards improving the Boston Pizza 

experience. A vibrant, colourful design in a casual and comfortable 

dining atmosphere, combined with a menu that features old favourites 

and new taste sensations, keeps guests coming back for more.

A Proven Restaurant Concept
Broad Customer Appeal — Full-service restaurant and sports bar under 

one roof appeals to both families and young adults

Multiple Day Parts — Lunch, dinner, late nights and take-out & delivery

Attractive Locations — Real estate selection is critical and restaurant 

designs are updated regularly

A Successful Income Fund
On July 17th, 2002 Boston Pizza International Inc. sold the BP Rights 

to the Fund. The BP Rights include trademarks used in connection 

with the operation of Boston Pizza restaurants in Canada. BPI then 

entered into an agreement with the Fund which gives BPI the exclusive 

license to use the BP Rights for a period of 99 years in exchange for a 

monthly royalty payment of 4% of the franchise sales of Boston Pizza 

Restaurants in the royalty pool. BPI remains a private company which 

continues to operate as the franchisor for Boston Pizza restaurants 

including providing marketing, purchasing, and administrative support to 

existing franchisees. In addition, BPI seeks out new restaurant locations 

and potential franchisees in order to expand the chain and enter new 

markets. Any new stores opened during a calendar year are added to the 

royalty pool on January 1st of the following year. Since 2002, the royalty 

pool has expanded from 154 to 323 restaurants.

A Top-Line Fund — The structure of the Fund provides Unitholders with 

top line royalties from Boston Pizza restaurants. All operating costs for 

Boston Pizza restaurants and capital investments for new locations are 

funded by franchisees. The Fund has no capital expenditures and only 

moderate administrative expenses and, therefore, can maintain a high 

payout ratio to Unitholders.

Demonstrated Consistency — The Fund has provided cash 

distributions to Unitholders in each month since the IPO in July 2002 

and as at December 31, 2008 had paid out total cash distributions of 

$105 million.

Demonstrated Growth — Monthly cash distributions have been 

increased thirteen times since the IPO for a total increase of 38%.
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Founded in Alberta in 1964, Boston Pizza has 

grown to become Canada’s #1 casual 

dining brand by continually improving 

our restaurant design, our menu 

offering and our customer experience. 

Boston Pizza’s success has allowed 

the concept to grow and prosper in new 

markets across Canada.

There are now more than 325 Boston Pizza 

locations in Canada, stretching from 

Victoria to St. John’s, with all but three of 

the restaurants owned and operated by 

independent franchisees.

In every Boston Pizza location, customers 

enjoy a friendly atmosphere, professional 

service and an appealing and diverse menu. 

Whether it’s a business lunch, a family dinner 

or watching the game with friends, Boston 

Pizza provides our customers the opportunity 

to enjoy good food in a relaxed, comfortable 

atmosphere. It is this combination of key 

ingredients that has enabled Boston Pizza to 

serve more customers in more locations than 

any other full service restaurant in Canada.

 2008 Highlights
• Record system-wide gross sales of $831 million

• 25 new stores opened, bringing the total at year 
 end to 323

• 35 existing restaurants renovated to the latest 
 Boston Pizza design standards

• Continued positive same stores sales growth 
 of 0.7%

• Number of restaurants in the Royalty Pool 
has more than doubled since the IPO in 2002 
from 154 to 323 locations at January 1, 2009

• Boston Pizza International Inc.  named to the
Platinum Club of   “Canada’s  50 Best Managed 
Companies” and as one of Canada’s “Most 
Admired Corporate Cultures”
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GROWTH
1964: First Boston Pizza opens in Alberta

1968:  Jim Treliving opens the first Boston Pizza 

 franchise in Penticton, B.C.

1973:  Jim Treliving and George Melvi l le form 

 partnership

1983:  Jim and George purchase Boston Pizza 

 International Inc.

1994: National Post names Boston Pizza as one of 

 Canada’s best managed private companies

2000:  Boston Pizza reaches system-wide sales of 

 $200 million

2002:  Boston Pizza Royalties Income Fund is listed 

 on the TSX under the symbol BPF.UN

2008:  Boston Pizza opens 25 new stores during 

2008 to reach 323 with system-wide 

gross sales of $831 million

As of January 1, 2009, there are 323 Boston Pizza 

Restaurants in the Royalty Pool, stretching from Victoria to 

St. John’s

RESULTS
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On an annual basis, distributions to unitholders have 

increased by a total of 38% since the IPO
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COMMUNITY

The Boston Pizza Foundation

As Boston Pizza continues to grow so does our ability to play 

a positive role in the communities where we live and work. 

Since Boston Pizza fi rst opened its doors in Edmonton, Alberta 

in 1964 a spirit of giving back to the communities in which we 

operate has been a philosophy and value we hold dear. To 

formalize the fi rst 25 years of charitable activity, Boston Pizza 

in 1990 established the Boston Pizza Foundation, a public 

foundation focused on raising funds to help people of all ages 

living with diffi cult circumstances throughout Canada.

Our commitment to local and national charities has always 

been a top priority through both franchisee and corporate 

initiatives. This dedication is refl ected in a variety of programs 

and promotions from corporate golf tournaments and charity 

walks to national marketing programs such as our Valentine’s 

Day Heart Shaped Pizza promotion.

SInce its inception, the Boston Pizza Foundation has raised 

more than $9.0 million for three national charities: Kids Help 

Phone, Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation and the Heart 

& Stroke Foundation of Canada, as well as a host of other 

local and national charities.
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BOSTON PIZZA ROYALTIES INCOME FUND

Letter from the Chairman 
Boston Pizza Royalties Income Fund
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Highlights

Franchise sales reported by restaurants in the Royalty Pool 

were $158.9 million for the Period and $646.3 million for the 

Year, representing increases of 10.5% and 10.7% respectively 

versus the prior periods. This growth was achieved mainly 

through the addition of 34 new restaurants to the Royalty Pool 

on January 1, 2008. On a same store basis, sales increased 

by 0.1% for the Period and 0.7% for the Year compared to 

same store sales growth (“SSSG”) reported in 2007 of 3.3% 

and 5.7% for the same periods respectively. SSSG, the key 

driver of yield growth for individual Unitholders of the Fund, is 

the increase in gross revenues of Boston Pizza Restaurants 

as compared to the gross revenues for the same period in the 

previous year, where restaurants were open for the full period 

in each year. Boston Pizza Restaurants across Canada have 

achieved positive SSSG every quarter since the Fund’s initial 

public offering in July 2002. Sales results for both the Period 

and Year were negatively impacted by the weaker general 

economic conditions and higher numbers of Boston Pizza 

Restaurants which temporarily closed to undergo renovations 

compared to the same periods one year ago. Boston Pizza 

Restaurants are required under the franchise agreement to 

undergo a complete renovation every seven years to the then 

current design standards. During the Year, 35 restaurants 

completed a renovation compared to 19 restaurants in 2007. 

Locations typically close for two to three weeks to complete 

the renovation and experience an incremental sales increase 

in the year following the re-opening. 

The Fund’s earnings before income taxes increased 16.3% 

for the Period and 18.3% for the Year compared to the same 

periods in 2007. On a per unit basis, the Fund’s earnings 

before income taxes were $0.321 for the Period and $1.338 

for the Year compared to $0.337 and $1.361 for the same 

periods respectively in 2007.

The Trustees have announced a monthly cash distribution 

to Unitholders of 11.5 cents per unit for January 2009. The 

January distribution will be paid to Unitholders of record at the 

close of business on February 21, 2009 and will be payable on 

February 27, 2009. The Fund periodically reviews distribution 

levels based on its policy of stable and sustainable distribution 

fl ow to Unitholders. Since the Fund’s initial public offering in 

July 2002, monthly distributions have been increased a total 

of 13 times, rising 38.0% over that time. 

Outlook

Boston Pizza is well positioned for future expansion and 

should continue to strengthen its position as the number one 

casual dining brand in Canada. In 2009, management of BPI 

anticipates that approximately 15 to 25 new locations will 

open across Canada. Due to the relatively weaker general 

economic conditions, BPI management believes that the 

pace of commercial real estate development will decelerate 

and access to fi nancing will be restricted. These factors may 

have a negative effect on the opening of new Boston Pizza 

Restaurants in 2009. Management will continue to pursue 

further development in Western Canada, while the majority 

of new locations are expected to be in Eastern Canada and 

Quebec. 

SSSG in 2009 will be driven by a new television advertising 

campaign, a larger national marketing budget and an updated 

menu. In addition, Boston Pizza anticipates that 20 to 30 

restaurants will complete renovations this year. The prevailing 

weaker economic conditions are expected to have an impact 

on sales at Boston Pizza Restaurants and BPI management 

is not expecting a signifi cant improvement in economic 

conditions in the near-term. 

On behalf of the Board of Trustees, 

 

John Cowperthwaite, FCA

Chairman, Boston Pizza Royalties Income Fund

On behalf of the Trustees, I am pleased to report that the Boston Pizza Royalties Income Fund (the “Fund”) 

posted growth in the fourth quarter of 2008 despite some challenging economic conditions.  This report covers 

the period from October 1, 2008 to December 31, 2008 (the “Period”) and the year period from January 1, 2008 to 

December 31, 2008 (the “Year”).  These results are also available on the Fund’s website at www.bpincomefund.com 

and we encourage you to visit our website to follow new developments on the activities of the Fund.



BOSTON PIZZA ROYALTIES INCOME FUND

Management’s Discussion & Analysis
For the Period and the Year ended December 31, 2008

Financial Highlights

The tables below set out selected historical information and other data from the consolidated fi nancial statements of Boston 

Pizza Royalties Income Fund (the “Fund”1) and Boston Pizza Royalties Limited Partnership (the “Partnership”), which should 

be read in conjunction with the attached consolidated fi nancial statements of the Fund.

Equity and interest income earned by the Fund through its interest in the Partnership have been derived as shown in the tables 

below.          

    Jan. 1, 2008 to   Jan. 1, 2007 to   Jan. 1, 2006 to
(in thousands of dollars – except restaurants, SSSG and per unit items)  Dec. 31, 2008    Dec. 31, 2007   Dec. 31, 2006

Number of restaurants in Royalty Pool    298   266   226

Franchise Sales2 reported by restaurants in the Royalty Pool $ 646,275  $ 583,775  $ 484,684

Royalty Income – 4% of Franchise Sales of restaurants $ 25,851  $ 23,351  $ 19,387

Administrative and interest expenses  $ 1,587  $ 1,101  $ 1,062

Partnership earnings for the period before undernoted $ 24,264  $ 22,250  $ 18,325

BPI’s interest in the earnings of the Partnership $ 5,902  $ 7,018  $ 6,095

Equity income related to BPI royalties earned by the Fund $ 18,362  $ 15,232  $ 12,230

Net interest income  $ 1,794  $ 1,800  $ 1,800

Earnings before income taxes  $ 20,156  $ 17,032  $ 14,030

Future income taxes expense   $ 428  $ 2,881       —

Net earnings  $ 19,728  $ 14,151  $ 14,030

Basic and diluted earnings per Fund unit3  $ 1.309  $ 1.131  $ 1.298

Distributions declared per Fund unit  $ 1.380  $ 1.354  $ 1.278

Same store sales growth (SSSG)   0.7%   5.7%   8.4%

Number of restaurants opened during period  25    34   41 

Number of restaurants closed during period  2   —   1

     Dec. 31, 2008    Dec. 31, 2007   Dec. 31, 2006

Total assets  $ 182,427  $ 150,665  $ 124,054

Total liabilities   $ 5,327  $ 4,347  $ 1,199

1 Any further references to the Fund refer to the Fund and its subsidiaries, as the fi nancial results in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
are presented on a consolidated basis.

2  Franchise Sales is the basis on which the royalty is payable; it means the gross revenues of Boston Pizza Restaurants (as defi ned herein) 
in respect of which the royalty is payable. The term “gross revenue” refers to the gross revenue: (i) of the corporate Boston Pizza Restaurants 
in Canada owned by BPI; and (ii) reported to BPI by franchised Boston Pizza Restaurants in Canada, without audit or other form of independent 
assurance, and in the case of both (i) and (ii), after deducting revenue from the sale of liquor, beer, wine and tobacco and discounts and 
excluding applicable sales and similar taxes. Nevertheless, BPI periodically conducts audits of the Franchise Sales reported to it by its 
franchisees, and the Franchise Sales reported wherein include results from sales audits of earlier periods conducted during the Year and the 
proceeds from insurance claims as the result of fi re damage to two stores in the fi rst quarter of 2008.

3 Earnings per Fund unit and diluted earnings per Fund unit are shown here on an after-tax basis. These per Fund unit calculations include the 
impact of future income taxes which have no impact on cash fl ow in the Period or the Year (see “Income Taxes”). For a description of earnings 
per unit before tax, please refer to the “Distributions” section of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 
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     Q4   Q3   Q2   Q1
(in thousands of dollars – except restaurants and per unit items)    2008   2008   2008   2008

Restaurants in the Royalty Pool     298   298   299   300

Franchise Sales reported by restaurants in the Royalty Pool   $ 158,913  $ 170,768  $ 163,955  $ 152,638

Royalty income – 4% of Franchise Sales    $ 6,357  $ 6,831  $ 6,558  $ 6,106

Administrative and interest expenses     (546 )  (267 )  (387 )  (388 )

Partnership earnings for the period before undernoted   $ 5,811  $ 6,564  $ 6,171  $ 5,718

BPI’s interest in the earnings of the Partnership    (1,264 )  (1,494 )  (1,303 )  (1,841 )

Equity income related to BPI royalties earned by the Fund   $ 4,547  $ 5,070  $ 4,868  $ 3,877

Net interest income     444    450    450    450 

Earnings before income taxes    $ 4,991  $ 5,520  $ 5,318  $ 4,327

Future income tax expense     (312 )  —   —   (116 )

Net earnings    $ 4,679  $ 5,520  $ 5,318  $ 4,211

Basic and diluted earnings per Fund unit3   $ 0.301  $ 0.352  $ 0.339  $ 0.316

Distributions declared per Fund unit    $ 0.460  $ 0.345  $ 0.345  $ 0.230

       Q4   Q3   Q2   Q1
(in thousands of dollars – except restaurants and per unit items)    2007   2007   2007   2007

Restaurants in the Royalty Pool     266   266   266   266

Franchise Sales reported by restaurants in the Royalty Pool   $ 143,795  $ 156,111  $ 146,277  $ 137,592

Royalty income – 4% of Franchise Sales    $ 5,752  $ 6,244  $ 5,851  $ 5,504

Administrative and interest expenses     (242 )  (215 )  (312 )  (332 )

Partnership earnings for the period before undernoted   $ 5,510  $ 6,029  $ 5,539  $ 5,172

BPI’s interest in the earnings of the Partnership    (1,668 )  (1,783 )  (1,675 )   (1,892 )

Equity income related to BPI royalties earned by the Fund   $  3,842  $ 4,246  $ 3,864  $ 3,280

Interest income     450    450    450    450 

Earnings before income taxes    $ 4,292  $  4,696  $  4,314  $ 3,730

Future income tax recovery (expense)     118   (176 )  (2,823 )   — 

Net earnings    $ 4,410  $ 4,520  $ 1,491  $ 3,730

Basic and diluted earnings per Fund unit3   $ 0.343  $ 0.354  $ 0.117  $ 0.317

Distributions declared per Fund unit    $ 0.458  $ 0.339  $ 0.335  $ 0.222
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4 BP Rights are the trademarks that as at July 17, 2002 were registered or the subject of pending applications for registration under the Trade-
Marks Act (Canada), and other trademarks and the trade names which are confusing with the registered or pending trademarks. The BP Rights 
purchased do not include the rights outside of Canada to any trademarks or trade names used by BPI or any affi liated entities in its business, 
and in particular do not include the rights outside of Canada to the trademarks registered or pending registration under the Trade-Marks Act 
(Canada).

Overview 

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis covers the fourth 

quarter period from October 1, 2008 to December 31, 2008 (the 

“Period”) and the year period from January 1, 2008 to December 

31, 2008 (the “Year”) and is dated February 6, 2009.

The Fund is a limited purpose open-ended trust established in 

July 2002, and the units of the Fund (the “Units”) trade on the 

Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol BPF.UN. The Fund was 

created to acquire, indirectly through the Partnership and Boston 

Pizza Holdings Trust (the “Trust”), the Canadian trademarks 

owned by Boston Pizza International Inc. (“BPI”) and used in 

connection with the operation of the Boston Pizza Restaurants in 

Canada (collectively the “BP Rights”4). The Partnership licenses 

the BP Rights to BPI in return for a 4% royalty of Franchise Sales 

of those restaurants (“Boston Pizza Restaurants”) included in the 

specifi c royalty pool (the “Royalty Pool”). During the Period, there 

were 298 restaurants in the Royalty Pool. During the Year, BPI 

closed two locations changing the number of total restaurants in 

the Royalty Pool from 300 to 298.

During 2005, the Partnership was determined to be a Variable 

Interest Entity in accordance with the criteria established in the 

new Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants’ Guideline, 

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (“AcG-15”). As a 

result of this guideline, the Fund accounts for its investment 

in the Partnership on an equity basis and BPI consolidates the 

Partnership in its fi nancial statements. Readers are advised 

that this is an accounting basis of presentation only and that 



earnings and distributions attributable to Fund unitholders are 

not impacted nor does this impact the contractual obligations 

between the Fund, the Partnership, and BPI. The consolidated 

fi nancial statements of the Fund therefore include the 

accounts of the Fund, its wholly-owned subsidiaries the Trust, 

Boston Pizza Holdings GP Inc. (“Holdings GP”), Boston Pizza 

Holdings Limited Partnership (“Holdings LP”) and its 80% 

owned subsidiary Boston Pizza GP Inc. (“BPGP”) (collectively, 

the “Companies”). BPGP is the managing general partner of 

the Partnership. All residual ownership of the Companies is 

either directly or indirectly controlled by BPI. 

A key attribute of the Fund’s structure is that it is a “top-

line” fund. Royalty income of the Fund is based on Franchise 

Sales of Royalty Pool restaurants and is not determined by 

the profi tability of either BPI or the Boston Pizza Restaurants 

in the Royalty Pool. In addition, the Fund is not subject to 

the variability of earnings or expenses associated with an 

operating business. The Fund’s only expenses are relatively 

minor administrative expenses and interest on debt. Given 

this structure, the success of the Fund depends primarily on 

the ability of BPI to maintain and increase Franchise Sales of 

Boston Pizza Restaurants in the Royalty Pool. 

Increases in Franchise Sales are derived from both new 

Boston Pizza Restaurants and same store sales growth 

(“SSSG”). SSSG, the key driver of yield growth for individual 

unitholders of the Fund (“Unitholders”), is the increase in 

gross revenues of Boston Pizza Restaurants as compared to 

the gross revenues for the same period in the previous year. 

SSSG from existing restaurants is dependent on maintaining 

operational excellence within each Boston Pizza Restaurant, 

general market conditions, pricing, and marketing programs 

undertaken by BPI. One of BPI’s competitive strengths 

in increasing Franchise Sales of existing locations is that 

BPI’s franchise agreement requires that each Boston Pizza 

Restaurant undergo a complete store renovation every seven 

years and complete any equipment upgrades as required 

by BPI. Locations typically close for two to three weeks to 

complete the renovation and experience an incremental sales 

increase in the year following the re-opening.

Franchise Sales are also affected by the permanent closures 

of Boston Pizza Restaurants. A Boston Pizza Restaurant is 

closed when it ceases to be viable or when the franchise 

agreement has expired or been terminated. BPI has a very low 

restaurant closure rate and has closed only three restaurants 

in the past six years. 

On January 1 of each year (“Adjustment Date”), an 

adjustment is made to add to the Royalty Pool new Boston 

Pizza Restaurants that opened and to remove any Boston 
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Pizza Restaurants that closed since the last Adjustment 

Date. In return for adding this additional royalty revenue, BPI 

receives the right to indirectly acquire additional Units (the 

“Additional Entitlements”). The adjustment for new Franchise 

Sales added to the Royalty Pool is designed to be accretive 

to Unitholders. The Additional Entitlements are calculated at 

92.5% of the estimated royalty revenue added to the Royalty 

Pool, divided by the yield of the Fund, divided by the weighted 

average unit price. BPI receives 80% of the Additional 

Entitlements initially, with the balance received when the 

actual full year performance of the new restaurants is known 

with certainty. BPI receives 100% of distributions from the 

Additional Entitlements throughout the year. Once these 

new restaurants have been part of the Royalty Pool for a full 

year, an audit of the royalty revenues of these restaurants 

received from BPI is performed. At such time an adjustment is 

made to reconcile distributions paid to BPI and the Additional 

Entitlements received by BPI. 

The following information provides additional analysis of the 

operations and fi nancial position of the Fund and should be 

read in conjunction with the consolidated fi nancial statements 

and accompanying notes. The consolidated fi nancial 

statements are in Canadian dollars and have been prepared 

in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 

principles (“GAAP”). Readers should note that the 2008 

results are not directly comparable with the 2007 results due 

to the fact that there were 298 restaurants in the Royalty Pool 

for the Period and 266 restaurants in the Royalty Pool for the 

same period in 2007.

Operating Results

Boston Pizza Restaurants continued to post positive growth 

in the fourth quarter of 2008. Franchise Sales growth of 

Royalty Pool Restaurants was 10.5% for the Period and 10.7% 

for the Year compared to the same periods in 2007. This was 

achieved through the addition of 34 new restaurants to the 

Royalty Pool on January 1, 2008.

Same Store Sales Growth

SSSG, the key driver of yield growth for individual Unitholders, 

is the increase in gross revenues of Boston Pizza Restaurants 

as compared to the gross revenues for the same period in 

the previous year, where restaurants were open for the full 

period in each year. SSSG is the combined result of increased 

customer traffi c and increased average guest cheque. Boston 

Pizza posted SSSG of 0.1% for the Period and 0.7% for the 

Year. These SSSG fi gures are compared to fourth quarter and 

full year sales growth reported in 2007 of 3.3% and 5.7%, 

respectively. Sales results for both the Period and Year were 

negatively impacted by weaker general economic conditions 
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BOSTON PIZZA ROYALTIES INCOME FUND

Management’s Discussion & Analysis (continued)

and the higher numbers of Boston Pizza Restaurants which 

temporarily closed to undergo renovations compared to 

the same periods one year ago. Boston Pizza Restaurants 

are required under the franchise agreement to undergo a 

complete renovation every seven years to the then current 

design standards. In 2008, six renovations were completed 

in the fourth quarter and a total of 35 for the Year compared 

to two and 19 respectively in the same periods one year ago. 

BPI management expects that the renovations will have a 

positive impact on sales going forward as the completed 

restaurants have re-opened for business. The SSSG reported 

for the Period and the Year includes results from franchisee 

sales audits conducted in these respective periods.

Boston Pizza Restaurants across Canada have achieved 

positive SSSG each and every quarter since the Fund’s initial 

public offering (“IPO”) on July 17, 2002. Over the past decade, 

SSSG has averaged 5.7% annually, a fi gure that compares 

favourably against the Canadian restaurant industry as a 

whole. This consistent sales growth is the reason that the 

Trustees of the Fund have been able to increase monthly 

cash distributions to Unitholders thirteen times since the 

Fund’s inception. 

New Store Openings, Renovations and Relocations

During the Period, 15 new Boston Pizza Restaurants were 

opened. For the Year, a total of 25 new Boston Pizza 

Restaurants opened and two Boston Pizza Restaurants 

closed. The number of Boston Pizza Restaurants opened in 

2008 was lower that the initial estimate of 30 to 35 primarily 

due to the slower than expected pace of commercial real 

estate development as a result of relatively weaker general 

economic conditions. 

As well, during the Period, six Boston Pizza Restaurants were 

renovated, bringing the total to 35 completed renovations 

during the Year. Locations typically close for two to three weeks 

to complete the renovation and experience an incremental 

sales increase in the year following the re-opening. Historically, 

Franchise Sales growth in the fi rst year following the completion 

of a full restaurant renovation has been 5% – 10% higher than 

the national average for the same period.  

Subsequent to December 31, 2008, Boston Pizza opened two 

new restaurants and completed one renovation bringing the 

total number of locations open as of February 6, 2009 to 325, 

of which 323 restaurants are in the Royalty Pool. 

Revenues

Royalty income received by the Partnership was $6.4 

million for the Period compared to $5.8 million, for the same 

period in 2007. For the Year, royalty income received by the 

Partnership was $25.9 million compared to $23.4 million for 

the same period in 2007. Royalty income was based on the 

Royalty Pool of 298 Boston Pizza Restaurants in Canada 

reporting Franchise Sales of $158.9 million for the Period 

and $646.3 million for the Year. In 2007, royalty income was 

based on the Royalty Pool of 266 Boston Pizza Restaurants 

in Canada reporting Franchise Sales of $143.8 million in the 

fourth quarter and $583.8 million for the year. The relatively 

weaker general economic conditions experienced during the 

Period and the Year compared to the same periods in 2007 

may have had a negative effect on the frequency of customer 

visits and average guest check at Boston Pizza Restaurants.   

Net interest income earned by the Fund for the Period was 

$0.4 million and for the Year was $1.8 million. For the same 

periods in 2007, net interest income earned by the Fund was 

$0.5 million and $1.8 million, respectively. Interest income to 

the Fund is derived from the $24.0 million loan from the Fund 

to BPI. The interest on this loan is paid monthly by BPI at a 

rate of 7.5% per annum. 

Expenses

Partnership expenses for the Period were $0.5 million 

consisting of $0.1 million for interest expense and $0.4 million 

for general and administrative expenses. The general and 

administrative expenses are comprised mainly of professional 

fees, insurance premiums, transfer agent costs, debt 

fi nancing costs and trustee fees. For the same period in 2007, 

Partnership expenses were $0.2 million consisting of $0.1 

million for interest expense and $0.1 million for general and 

administrative expenses. For the Year Partnership expenses 

were $1.6 million consisting of $0.3 million for interest expense 

and $1.3 million for general and administrative expenses. For 

the same period in 2007, Partnership expenses were $1.1 

million consisting of $0.3 million for interest expense and $0.8 

million for general and administrative expenses. The increases 

in general and administrative expenses for the Period and 

for the Year are largely due to the reimbursement to BPI of 

certain out of pocket expenses incurred by BPI directly related 

to ongoing operations of the Fund including accounting and 

administrative services and costs related to the addition of 

the $20 million term loan for the purchase of Units through the 

Fund’s normal course issuer bid (the “NCIB”). 

Distributions

The Fund’s earnings before income taxes during the Period 

were $5.0 million or $0.321 per Unit with the Fund declaring 

distributions of $7.1 million or $0.460 per Unit. During the 

same period in 2007, earnings before income taxes were $4.3 

million or $0.337 per Unit with the Fund declaring distributions 

of $5.8 million or $0.458 per Unit. The Fund’s earnings for the 

Year before income taxes were $20.2 million or $1.338 per 

Unit with the Fund declaring distributions of $21.2 million 
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or $1.380 per Unit. During the same period in 2007, earnings 

before income taxes were $17.0 million or $1.361 per Unit with 

the Fund declaring distributions of $17.3 million or $1.354 per 

Unit. Declared distributions are greater in the fourth quarter 

each year compared to the fi rst, second and third quarters 

due to the timing of declarations throughout the fi scal year, 

which results in four declared distributions in the fourth quarter, 

two in the fi rst quarter, and three in each of the second and 

third quarters.   

Since the IPO, Unitholders have received 13 distribution 

increases. At the time of the IPO the monthly distributions 

were set at $0.0833 per Unit and by the end of the Period, 

distributions were $0.1150 per Unit, an increase of 38%. 

Distributions for the Year were as follows:

Period Payment Date Amount/Unit

January 1 – 31, 2008 February 29, 2008 11.50¢

February 1 – 29, 2008 March 31, 2008 11.50¢

March 1 – 31, 2008 April 30, 2008 11.50¢

April 1 – 30, 2008 May 30, 2008 11.50¢

May 1 – 31, 2008 June 30, 2008 11.50¢

June 1 – 30, 2008 July 31, 2008 11.50¢

July 1 – 31, 2008 August 29, 2008 11.50¢

August 1 – 31, 2008 September 30, 2008 11.50¢

September 1 – 30, 2008 October 31, 2008 11.50¢

October 1 – 31, 2008 November 28, 2008 11.50¢

November 1 – 30, 2008 December 31, 2008 11.50¢

December 1 – 31, 2008 January 30, 2009* 11.50¢

*Paid subsequent to the Period

Distributions for the Period were funded entirely by cash fl ow 

from operations. No debt was incurred at any point during the 

Period to fund distributions.

Normal Course Issuer Bid

On September 22, 2008 the Fund announced that it had 

received Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) approval of a 

Notice of Intention to Make an NCIB through the facilities 

of the TSX which permits the Fund to repurchase for 

cancellation up to 1,336,154 Units, being approximately 8.5% 

of the Fund’s issued and outstanding units (as at September 

19, 2008) and approximately 10.0% of its public fl oat, then 

comprised of 13,361,545 units. To facilitate the NCIB, an 

amendment to the subsidiary structure of the Fund was 

made by creating Holdings LP and Holdings GP and inserting 

Holdings LP between the Partnership and the Trust. The TSX 

has temporarily raised the limit on the daily number of units 

that issuers can purchase under NCIBs. From November 3, 

2008 until March 31, 2009, issuers can repurchase 50% of 

the average daily trading volume rather than 25%. All other 

rules relating to the NCIB remain the same.

The Fund has established an automatic securities purchase 

plan with its broker to allow for the repurchase of the Fund’s 

units under the NCIB at any time, including when it ordinarily 

would not be active in the market due to its own internal 

trading blackout periods, insider trading rules or otherwise. 

The plan will terminate on the earliest of: (a) the date on which 

the purchase limits specifi ed in the plan have been attained, 

(b) the Fund terminates the plan in accordance with the terms 

of the plan, in which case the Fund will issue a press release 

announcing such termination, and (c) September 30, 2009. 

Unitholders of the Fund may obtain, without charge, a copy 

of the Notice of Intention to Make a Normal Course Issuer 

Bid that the Fund fi led with the TSX by contacting the Vice 

President of Investor Relations for the Fund.

Purchases under the NCIB commenced on October 1, 2008 

and as of February 6, 2009, the Fund had acquired 979,400 

Units at an average price of $8.44 per Unit. The Fund pays the 

market price at the time of acquisition for any Units purchased 

through the facilities of the TSX and all Units acquired under 

the NCIB will be cancelled. As a result of this repurchase and 

cancellation of Units, there is a savings for the Fund in overall 

monthly cash distributions to Unitholders which is partially 

offset by interest expense and the administrative costs of 

establishing the NCIB.   

To fund purchases under the NCIB, the Partnership entered 

into an agreement with a Canadian Chartered Bank whereby 

the bank provides a credit facility in the amount of up to $20 

million available in loans at variable and fi xed interest rates (the 

“NCIB Credit Facility”), as selected by the Partnership. The 

NCIB Credit Facility is secured by a fi rst charge over the assets 

of the Partnership, has a four year term and has no scheduled 

repayment terms. As at February 6, 2009 the Partnership had 

drawn down the NCIB Credit Facility by $7.5 million. 

Units Outstanding

The following table sets forth a summary of the outstanding 

Units of the Fund. BPI owns 100% of the Class B general 

partner units (the “Class B Units”), 100% of the Class C general 

partner units and 1% of the ordinary general partner units of 

the Partnership. The Class B Units are exchangeable for Units 

of the Fund. Reference to “BPI Additional Entitlements” in the 

table below are the number of Units of the Fund into which 

the Class B Units held by BPI are exchangeable.
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     Issued &
     Outstanding   
     Units, Additional
   Issued   Entitlements,
   Outstanding Units,  & Holdback of 
   & Additional Additional 
   Entitlements Entitlements 

Issued and Outstanding Units as of December 31, 2008  15,220,968 15,220,968 (1)

BPI Additional Entitlements — Outstanding as of December 31, 2008  2,140,392 2,140,392 

BPI Additional Entitlements — Holdback as of December 31, 2008  N/A 377,892 (2)

   Number of Fully Diluted Units as of December 31, 2008 17,361,360 17,739,252 

   BPI Total Ownership as of December 31, 2008 12.3% 14.2% 

Issued and Outstanding Units as of February 6, 2009  14,716,768 14,716,768 (1)

BPI Additional Entitlements — Outstanding as of December 31, 2008  2,140,392 2,140,392 

BPI Additional Entitlements — Issued in respect of 2008 after the audit  248,629 248,629 (2)

BPI Additional Entitlements — Issued & Outstanding as of January 1, 2009
 (23 net new Restaurants added to Royalty Pool)  940,085 940,085 (3)

BPI Additional Entitlements — Holdback as of January 1, 2009
 (23 net new Restaurants added to Royalty Pool)  N/A 235,021 (4)

   Number of Fully Diluted Units as of February 6, 2009 18,045,874 18,280,895 

   BPI Total Ownership as of February 6, 2009 18.4% 19.5% 

(1) Issued and Outstanding Units as at December 31, 2008 and February 6, 2009 is after the repurchase and cancellation of 475,200 and 979,400 
units respectively under the Normal Course Issuer Bid which commenced on October 1, 2008.

(2) Additional Entitlements from the 34 new restaurants added to Royalty Pool on January 1, 2008 determined in 2009, once audited results of the 
 34 new restaurants were known. 
(3) Issued effective January 1, 2009.   
(4) Holdback of Additional Entitlements from 23 net new restaurants added to Royalty Pool on January 1, 2009. Actual number of Additional 
 Entitlements will be determined in early 2010, effective January 1, 2009, once audited results of the 23 net new restaurants are known.  

BPI also holds 100% of the special voting units (the “Special 

Voting Units”) of the Fund which entitle BPI to one vote for 

each Unit of the Fund that BPI would be entitled to receive 

if it exchanged all of its Class B Units of the Partnership for 

Units of the Fund. As of February 6, 2009, BPI was entitled to 

3,329,106 votes, representing 18.4% of the aggregate votes 

held by holders of Units and Special Voting Units (collectively, 

“Voting Unitholders”). See “Description of Fund – Units and 

Special Voting Units”. The number of Units of the Fund that BPI 

is entitled to receive upon the exchange of its Class B Units of 

the Partnership and the number of votes that BPI is entitled 

in respect of its Special Voting Units is adjusted annually to 

refl ect any additional Boston Pizza Restaurants (“Additional 

Restaurants”) that may be added to the Royalty Pool. 

Tax Treatment of Distributions

Of the $1.380 in distributions declared per Unit during the Year, 

11.0% or $0.152 per Unit represents a tax deferred return of 

capital and 89.0% or $1.228 per Unit is taxable as income 

from property (other than dividends).

New Restaurants Added to the Royalty Pool

On January 1, 2008, 34 new Boston Pizza Restaurants 

that opened across Canada between January 1, 2007 and 

December 31, 2007 were added to the Royalty Pool. The 

estimated annual gross franchise revenue for the 34 new 

restaurants in 2008 was $69.1 million. The estimated 4% 

royalty revenue the Fund was to receive in 2008 from these 

additional 34 new restaurants was $2.8 million. The royalty 

revenue for the purposes of calculating the Additional 

Entitlements, therefore, was $2.6 million or 92.5% of $2.8 

million. In return for adding the royalty revenue from these 34 

new restaurants to the Royalty Pool, BPI received the right to 

acquire an additional 1,511,567 Units, representing 80% of the 

Additional Entitlements with the balance to be received when 

the actual full year performance of the new restaurants was 

known with certainty. The 1,511,567 Additional Entitlements 

represented 8.7% of the total outstanding Units on a fully 

diluted basis on January 1, 2008. BPI received an increase 

in monthly distributions based on 100% of the Additional 

Entitlements during 2008. The calculation for the number 

of Additional Entitlements received by BPI is designed to 

be accretive to existing Unitholders as the additional royalty 

revenues from the new restaurants are licensed to the Fund at 

a 7.5% discount. Once the actual performance of these new 

Royalty Pool restaurants for 2008 was known, the number of 
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Additional Entitlements was adjusted in 2009 to refl ect the 

actual royalty revenue received by the Fund in 2008 (see 

“Subsequent Events”). 

In January 2008 an audit of the royalty revenues of the 40 

net new restaurants that were added to the Royalty Pool on 

January 1, 2007 was completed. The purpose of this audit 

was to compare actual royalty revenue from these 40 net 

new restaurants to the estimated amount of royalty revenue 

the Fund expected to receive. The original royalty revenue 

the Fund expected to receive was $3.0 million and the actual 

royalty revenue that the Fund received was $2.9 million. As a 

result of this adjustment and distributions that were paid on 

the excess units, BPI made a cash payment to the Partnership 

of $0.1 million to reconcile distributions received by BPI for the 

difference between estimated and actual royalty revenue for 

the 40 net new restaurants. BPI received the right to acquire 

only 80% of the Additional Entitlements at the Adjustment 

Date in 2007. Following the audit, BPI received the right to 

acquire 386,341 Additional Entitlements.

On March 14, 2008, BPI sold 2,945,246 Units of the Fund 

received in exchange for Class B Units of the Partnership held 

by BPI. As of December 31, 2008 there were 15,220,968 Units 

issued and outstanding – 17,361,360 on a fully diluted basis – 

and BPI had a 12.3% indirect interest in the Fund. 

During 2008, BPI closed two locations changing the number 

of total restaurants in the Royalty Pool from 300 to 298. The 

impact of these closures was factored into the calculation 

of new Franchise Sales added to the Royalty Pool from 

restaurants opened during 2008 for the calculation of Additional 

Entitlements of January 1, 2009 (see “Subsequent Events”).

Subsequent Events

On January 1, 2009, 25 new Boston Pizza Restaurants 

that opened across Canada between January 1, 2008 and 

December 31, 2008 were added to the Royalty Pool and 

two restaurants that permanently closed during 2008 were 

removed from the Royalty Pool. The estimated annual gross 

franchise revenue for the 23 net new restaurants in 2009 is 

$43.8 million. The calculation for the number of Additional 

Entitlements received by BPI is designed to be accretive to 

existing Unitholders as the additional royalty revenues from the 

new restaurants are licensed to the Fund at a 7.5% discount. 

The estimated 4% royalty revenue the Fund will receive in 

2009 from these additional 23 net new restaurants is $1.8 

million. The royalty revenue for the purposes of calculating the 

Additional Entitlements, therefore, is $1.6 million or 92.5% of 

$1.8 million. In return for adding the royalty revenue from these 

23 net new restaurants to the Royalty Pool, BPI received the 

right to acquire an additional 940,085 Units, representing 80% 

of the Additional Entitlements with the balance to be received 

when the actual full year performance of the new restaurants 

is known with certainty. The 940,085 Additional Entitlements 

represented 5.1% of the total outstanding Units on a fully 

diluted basis on January 1, 2009. 235,021 Units, representing 

the remaining 20% of the Additional Entitlements, have been 

“held back” until such time as the actual performance of 

these new Royalty Pool restaurants for 2009 is known. BPI 

also receives an increase in monthly distributions based on 

100% of the Additional Entitlements. 

In January 2009 an audit of the royalty revenues of the 34 

restaurants that were added to the Royalty Pool on January 1, 

2008 was completed. The purpose of this audit was to compare 

actual royalty revenue from these 34 restaurants to the estimated 

amount of royalty revenue the Fund expected to receive. The 

original royalty revenue the Fund expected to receive was $2.8 

million and the actual royalty revenue that the Fund received was 

$2.6 million. As a result of this adjustment and distributions that 

were paid on the excess units, BPI will make a cash payment to 

the Partnership of $0.2 million to reconcile distributions received 

by BPI for the difference between estimated and actual royalty 

revenue for the 34 restaurants. BPI received the right to acquire 

only 80% of the Additional Entitlements at the Adjustment Date 

in 2008. Following the audit, BPI received the right to acquire 

248,629 Additional Entitlements.

Liquidity & Capital Resources

The Fund’s distribution policy is to distribute all available cash 

in order to maximize returns to Unitholders. In light of small 

seasonal variations that are inherent to the restaurant industry, 

the Fund’s policy is to make equal distribution payments 

to Unitholders on a monthly basis in order to smooth out 

these fl uctuations. Any further increase in distributions will 

be implemented in such a manner so that the continuity of 

uniform monthly distributions is maintained, while making 

provisions for working capital due to seasonal variations of 

Boston Pizza Restaurant sales. It is expected that future 

distributions will continue to be funded entirely by cash fl ows 

from operations. The Fund has reviewed its cash fl ows and 

determined that it has suffi cient cash to cover expenditures, 

commitments and repayments for 2009. 

As of December 31, 2008, working capital of the Fund taken 

together with working capital of the Partnership totalled $0.2 

million. The Partnership has a $1 million operating line of credit 

available to fi nance its operations (the “Operating Loan”) and 

the $20 million NCIB Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2008, 

no amount was drawn from the Operating Loan and $3.9 

million was drawn from the NCIB Credit Facility. As of February 

6, 2009, no amount was drawn from the Operating Loan and 

$7.5 million was drawn from the NCIB Credit Facility.
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Cash Flow from Operating Activities:

The Fund generated $20.9 million in cash from operating 

activities during the Year mainly due to distributions received 

from the Partnership and interest income received from BPI. 

Cash Flow from Investing Activities:

During the Year, investing activities generated $4.0 million in 

cash due to the Partnership returning capital to the Fund. 

Cash Flow from Financing Activities:

During the Year, fi nancing activities used $24.9 million in cash 

to pay out distributions to Unitholders of $20.9 million and to 

purchase $4.0 million in Units through the Fund’s NCIB. 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to 

provide reasonable assurance that material information is 

gathered and reported to senior management, including 

the Chief Executive Offi cer (“CEO”) and the Chief Financial 

Offi cer (“CFO”) of BPGP, managing general partner of the 

Partnership, administrator of the Fund, on a timely basis so 

that appropriate decisions can be made regarding public 

disclosure. In accordance with National Instrument 52-109 

Certifi cation of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim 

Filings, the CEO and CFO have evaluated the effectiveness 

of the Fund’s disclosure controls and procedures as of the 

year ended December 31, 2008. Based on that evaluation, 

the CEO and CFO have concluded that the disclosure control 

procedures are effective and provide reasonable assurance 

that: (a) information required to be disclosed by the Fund in 

its annual fi lings or other reports fi led and submitted under 

applicable securities legislation is recorded, processed, 

summarized and reported within the prescribed time 

periods, and (b) material information regarding the Fund is 

accumulated and communicated to management, including 

its CEO and CFO in a timely manner.

Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

The CEO and CFO have designed or caused to be designed 

under their supervision, internal controls over fi nancial 

reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 

reliability of fi nancial reporting and the preparation of fi nancial 

statements for external purposes in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted accounting principles. In accordance 

with NI 52-109, management designed and assessed the 

effectiveness of internal controls over fi nancial reporting as of 

December 31, 2008, based on the criteria set forth in Internal 

Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 

Based on that assessment, management concluded that, as 

of December 31, 2008, internal controls over fi nancial reporting 
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were effective based on the criteria established in Internal 

Control – Integrated Framework.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial 
Reporting

There have been no signifi cant changes in our internal controls 

over fi nancial reporting in fi scal 2008 that have materially 

affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal 

controls over fi nancial reporting except as noted below.

As a part of BPI management’s plan to continuously 

improve internal systems, the company implemented a data 

warehouse system in the Period to enhance existing reporting 

systems. This implementation included new controls which 

were tested as part of BPI management’s assessment of 

the effectiveness of internal controls over fi nancial reporting 

performed as of December 31, 2008.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the Fund’s consolidated fi nancial statements 

in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires estimates and 

judgments to be made that affect the reported amounts 

of assets and liabilities, net earnings and expenses, and 

related disclosures. These estimates are based on historical 

experience and knowledge of economics, market factors and 

the restaurant industry along with various other assumptions 

that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Fund believes the following selected accounting policy 

is critical to understanding the estimates, assumptions and 

uncertainties that affect the amounts reported and disclosed 

in our consolidated fi nancial statements and related notes. 

The Fund uses the asset and liability method of accounting 

for income taxes. Under the asset and liability method, future 

tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax 

consequences attributable to differences between the fi nancial 

statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities 

and their respective tax bases. Future tax assets and liabilities 

are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax 

rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which 

those temporary differences are expected to be recovered 

or settled. The effect on future tax assets and liabilities of a 

change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that 

includes the date of enactment or substantive enactment. 

The determination of future income taxes requires the use of 

judgment and estimates. If certain judgments or estimates prove 

to be inaccurate, or if certain tax rates or laws change, results of 

operations and fi nancial position could be materially impacted.

The Partnership annually reviews the book value of the intangible 

assets for impairment. The intangible assets are comprised of the 

BP Rights and as at December 31, 2008 were reported at $216.9 
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million. The review is based on a number of factors including 

a discounted cash fl ow analysis, the Unit price throughout the 

fi scal year compared to the IPO Unit price, distributable cash 

throughout the fi scal year compared to the level set out in the 

prospectus fi led on July 17, 2002, and any legal issues that may 

have a signifi cant impact on the Partnership. The Partnership 

reviewed the intangible assets as at December 31, 2008 and 

concluded there was no impairment.

Changes in Accounting Policies

Capital Disclosure

Effective January 1, 2008, the Fund adopted the 

recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered 

Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook Section 1535 Capital 

Disclosure that specifi es the disclosure of: (i) an entity’s 

objectives, policies and processes for managing capital; (ii) 

quantitative data about what the entity regards as capital; 

(iii) whether the entity has complied with any established 

capital requirements; and, (iv) if it has not complied, the 

consequences of such non-compliance. 

The Fund’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard 

its ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue 

to provide distributions to Unitholders and benefi ts for other 

stakeholders. The Fund includes its equity, comprised of 

Fund Units, contributed surplus, and accumulated defi cit, in 

its defi nition of capital as well as the debt of the Partnership, 

which it controls through its majority ownership interest 

in Boston Pizza GP Inc. This debt does not appear on the 

Fund’s balance sheet as the Fund does not consolidate 

the Partnership on the basis of variable interest entity 

guidance. Please see note 8 of the Fund’s consolidated 

fi nancial statements for the Year for the summarized fi nancial 

statement data of the Partnership.

The Fund seeks to maintain a balance between the higher 

returns that might be possible with the leverage afforded by 

higher borrowing levels and the security afforded by a sound 

capital structure. It does this by maintaining appropriate debt 

levels in the Partnership in relation to its cash fl ows, working 

capital and other assets in order to provide the maximum 

distributions to Unitholders commensurate with the level of 

risk. Also, the Fund utilizes the Partnership’s debt capabilities 

to buy back Units, where appropriate, in order to maximize 

cash distribution rates for remaining Unitholders.

The Fund maintains formal fi nancial policies to manage its 

capital structure that are adjusted to respond to changes 

in economic conditions, the underlying risks inherent in its 

operations, and capital requirements to maintain and grow 

its operations. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 

structure, the Fund may adjust the amount of distributions 

paid to unitholders, purchase Units in the market, or issue 

new Units. The Fund’s policy is to distribute all available cash 

from operations to the Fund for distribution to Unitholders 

after provisions for cash required for working capital and 

other reserves considered advisable by the Fund’s trustees. 

The Fund has eliminated the impact of seasonal fl uctuations 

by equalizing monthly distributions.

The Partnership had long-term debt of $8.9 million at 

December 31, 2008 (2007 – $5 million). In addition, the 

Partnership’s banking covenants currently require it to limit its 

funded debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 

and amortization (“EBITDA”) to 1.25:1. The Partnership’s 

funded debt to EBITDA ratio at December 31, 2008 was 0.36:1 

which is below its banking covenant requirements. 

The Fund is not subject to any other statutory capital 

requirements and has no commitments to sell or otherwise 

issue Units, other than the commitment to exchange Class B 

Units held by BPI for Fund Units.

Financial Instruments- Disclosure and Presentation

Effective January 1, 2008, the Fund adopted CICA Handbook 

Sections 3862 and 3863 that replace Handbook Section 3861, 

Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation, revising 

and enhancing its disclosure requirements, and carrying 

forward its presentation requirements. These new sections 

place increased emphasis on disclosures about the nature 

and extent of risks arising from fi nancial instruments and how 

the entity manages those risks. 

The Fund classifi ed its fi nancial instruments as follows:

• Cash as held-for-trading, which is measured at fair 

 value. 

• Interest receivable on BP Loan receivable from BPI, 

distributions and other receivables from the 

Partnership and note receivable from BPI as loans 

and receivables, which are initially measured at fair 

value and subsequently at amortized cost. 

• Distributions payable to Unitholders and accounts 

payable as other financial liabilities, which are 

measured at amortized cost. 

• The requirement in certain circumstances of the Fund 

to settle its BP Loan from BPI in exchange for Class 

C general partner units is classifi ed as a derivative 

instrument. The Fund has reviewed the net impact 

of this potential exchange requirement on its cash 

fl ows and has determined there is no signifi cant value 

applicable to this feature.
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The fair values of interest receivable, distributions receivable, 

distributions payable and accounts payable approximate their 

carrying amount largely due to the short-term maturities of 

these instruments. 

Financial Risk Management

The Fund is primarily exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk, 

and interest rate risk, as they relate to the Fund’s identifi ed 

fi nancial instruments.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is defi ned by the Fund as an unexpected loss 

in cash and earnings if the other party is unable to pay its 

obligations in due time. The Fund’s exposure to credit risk 

arises from its distributions receivable, interest receivable 

and BP Loan receivable, all being due from either BPI or the 

Partnership. The Fund monitors this risk through its regular 

review of operating and fi nancing activities of BPI. Since its 

inception, the Fund has never failed to collect its interest or 

distributions receivable on a timely basis.

The performance of the Fund is directly dependent upon 

the royalty received indirectly through the Partnership and 

interest payments received by the Partnership from BPI. 

The amount of royalty received from BPI is dependent on 

various factors that may affect the casual dining sector of 

the restaurant industry including competition and general 

economic conditions. In general, the restaurant industry, and 

in particular the casual dining sector, is intensely competitive 

with respect to price, service, location and food quality. If BPI 

and the Boston Pizza franchisees are unable to successfully 

compete in the casual dining sector or the economy is weak 

for an extended period of time, Franchise Sales may be 

adversely affected. The reduction of royalties may impact the 

ability for BPI to pay the Royalty or interest on the BP Loan.

As at December 31, 2008, the Fund had no provision for credit 

risk recorded in its fi nancial statements.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk results from the Fund’s potential inability to meet 

its fi nancial liabilities. Beyond effective net working capital 

and cash management, the Fund constantly monitors the 

operations and cash fl ows of the Partnership to ensure that 

current and future distributions to Unitholders will be met. At 

December 31, 2008, all liabilities of the Fund had a maturity of 

less than three months.

The Fund’s capital resources are comprised of cash and 

cash equivalents, and the Partnership’s undrawn $1 million 

Operating Loan and NCIB Credit Facility. Also included 

are cash fl ows from operating activities and reductions in 

distributions associated with purchases made through the 
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Fund’s NCIB. The $1 million Operating Loan bears interest 

at the bank’s prime rate, and the NCIB Credit Facility bears 

interest at the bank’s prime rate plus 0.5% or other variable 

interest rates as determined by the Partnership.

The Partnership’s NCIB Credit Facility is secured by a 

fi rst charge over the assets of the Partnership, has a four 

year term, and has no scheduled repayment terms. As at 

December 31, 2008, $3.9 million had been drawn from the 

NCIB Credit Facility. As at February 6, 2009, $7.5 million had 

been drawn from the NCIB Credit Facility.

The Fund is subject to certain guarantor covenants and 

reporting requirements arising from the Partnership’s $5 

million term loan, its NCIB Credit Facility, and its undrawn 

Operating Loan.

Interest Rate Risk 

The Fund’s interest rate risk exposure is mainly related to an 

interest-bearing BP Loan receivable from BPI. As the BP Loan 

receivable has a fi xed interest rate of 7.5%, is from a related 

party, and is due in July 2042, the Fund does not perform 

interest rate risk management to minimize the overall fi nancial 

interest rate risk.

New and Future Accounting Policies

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In February 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Section 3064, 

Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which supersedes Sections 

3062 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets and 3450 Research 

and Development Costs. Section 3064 provides additional 

guidance on when expenditures qualify for recognition as 

intangible assets and requires that costs be deferred only 

when relating to an item meeting the asset defi nition. This new 

accounting standard is effective for interim and annual fi nancial 

statements relating to fi scal years beginning on or after 

October 31, 2008. The company will adopt this standard for 

the fi scal year commencing January 1, 2009. It is not expected 

that adopting Section 3064 will have a material impact on the 

Company’s fi nancial position or results of operation.

International Financial Reporting Standards

In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board 

confi rmed its plan to converge with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The Fund must prepare its 

interim and annual consolidated fi nancial statements in 

accordance with IFRS for the periods beginning on or after 

January 1, 2011. The Fund has formally established an IFRS 

project team consisting of members of its fi nance group and 

is lead by the CFO of Boston Pizza GP Inc. The team reports 

regularly to the Trustees of the Fund. The team is currently 

studying the impacts of IFRS on the Fund’s accounting policies, 
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information systems, internal controls over fi nancial reporting, 

and contractual arrangements and covenants. 

Income Taxes

In 2007, the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the “Tax Act”) was 

amended to impose on Canadian public income trusts an 

entity-level tax at a rate approximately equal to the rate 

applicable on income earned by a Canadian public corporation 

and to prevent such trusts from deducting trust distributions 

when calculating taxable income. Also the amendment 

recharacterizes such distributions as eligible dividends 

received from a taxable Canadian corporation. A transition 

period applicable to publicly traded trusts that existed prior 

to November 1, 2006 will delay the application of these rules 

until the earlier of January 1, 2011 or the year in which a 

publicly traded trust exceeds the “normal growth guidelines” 

issued by the Department of Finance. Management of BPI 

has advised that it does not expect the Fund to exceed 

the “normal growth guidelines” prior to 2011. However, no 

assurance can be given in this regard.

Future income taxes are recorded on the temporary 

differences arising between the accounting and tax bases 

of balance sheet assets and liabilities. Historically the Fund 

had been exempt from recognizing future income taxes 

associated with temporary differences. In 2007, an expense 

of $2.9 million was recorded for the initial adoption of the new 

income tax rules applicable to publicly traded trusts. 

The impact on the Fund’s consolidated fi nancial statements 

was to record a future income tax expense of $0.3 million and 

$0.4 million for the three and twelve months ending December 

31, 2008 with a corresponding increase in the future income 

tax liability. A future income tax recovery of $0.1 million and a 

future income tax expense of $2.9 million were recorded for 

the same periods in 2007 respectively, with a corresponding 

future income tax liability. The future income tax liability arises 

mainly as a result of the Fund recording, in the current year, 

its cumulative share of the temporary differences between 

the accounting and tax bases of the BP Rights owned by the 

Partnership generated since the inception of the Fund. This 

additional expense had no impact on the Fund’s cash fl ow 

for the year.

Outlook

The information contained in “Outlook” is forward-looking 

information. Please see “Note Regarding Forward-Looking 

Information” for a discussion of the risks and uncertainties in 

connection with forward-looking information.

Boston Pizza is well positioned for future expansion and 

should continue to strengthen its position as the number one 

casual dining brand in Canada. In 2009, management of BPI 

anticipates that approximately 15 to 25 new locations will open 

across Canada. Due to the relatively weaker general economic 

conditions, BPI management believes that the pace of 

commercial real estate development will decelerate and access 

to fi nancing will be restricted. These factors may have a negative 

effect on the opening of new Boston Pizza Restaurants in 2009. 

Management will continue to pursue further development 

in Western Canada, while the majority of new locations are 

expected to be in Eastern Canada and Quebec. 

SSSG in 2009 will be driven by a new television advertising 

campaign, a larger national marketing budget and an updated 

menu. In addition, Boston Pizza anticipates that 20 to 30 

restaurants will complete renovations this year. The prevailing 

weaker economic conditions are expected to have an impact 

on sales at Boston Pizza Restaurants and BPI management 

is not expecting a signifi cant improvement in economic 

conditions in the near-term. 

Risks & Uncertainties

Risks Related to the Casual Dining Restaurant 
Industry

The Restaurant Industry and its Competitive Nature

The performance of the Fund is directly dependent upon the 

royalty and interest payments received from BPI. The amount 

of royalty received from BPI is dependent on various factors 

that may affect the casual dining sector of the restaurant 

industry. The restaurant industry generally, and in particular 

the casual dining sector, is intensely competitive with respect 

to price, service, location and food quality. Competitors include 

national and regional chains, as well as independently owned 

restaurants. If BPI and the Boston Pizza franchisees are unable 

to successfully compete in the casual dining sector, Franchise 

Sales may be adversely affected; the amount of royalty reduced 

and the ability of BPI to pay the royalty or interest on the loan to 

BPI in the aggregate amount of $24.0 million held by the Fund 

(the “BP Loan”) may be impaired. The restaurant industry is also 

affected by changes in demographic trends, traffi c patterns, 

and the type, number, and location of competing restaurants. 

In addition, factors such as government regulations, smoking 

bylaws, infl ation, publicity from any food borne illnesses, 

increased food, labour and benefi ts costs, and the availability of 

experienced management and hourly employees may adversely 

affect the restaurant industry in general and therefore potentially 

Boston Pizza Franchise Sales. BPI’s success also depends on 

numerous factors affecting discretionary consumer spending, 

including economic conditions, disposable consumer income 

and consumer confi dence. Adverse changes in these factors 

could reduce guest traffi c or impose practical limits on pricing, 

either of which could reduce revenue and operating income, 

which could adversely affect Franchise Sales, the royalty and 
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the ability of BPI to pay the royalty to the Fund or interest on 

the BP Loan.

Growth of the Royalty

The growth of the royalty and other amounts payable by BPI 

under the License and Royalty Agreement for the license to 

use the BP Rights in Canada for 99 years, commencing on 

July 17, 2002 (“Royalty”) is dependent upon the ability of BPI 

to (i) maintain and grow its franchised restaurants, (ii) locate 

new restaurant sites in prime locations; and (iii) obtain qualifi ed 

operators to become Boston Pizza franchisees. BPI faces 

competition for restaurant locations and franchisees from its 

competitors and from franchisors of other businesses. BPI’s 

inability to successfully obtain qualifi ed franchisees could 

adversely affect its business development. The opening 

and success of a Boston Pizza Restaurant is dependent on 

a number of factors, including: availability of suitable sites; 

negotiations of acceptable lease or purchase terms for new 

locations; availability, training and retention of management 

and other employees necessary to staff new Boston Pizza 

Restaurants; adequately supervising construction; securing 

suitable fi nancing; and other factors, some of which are beyond 

the control of BPI. Boston Pizza franchisees may not have all the 

business abilities or access to fi nancial resources necessary to 

open a Boston Pizza Restaurant or to successfully develop or 

operate a Boston Pizza Restaurant in their franchise areas in a 

manner consistent with BPI’s standards. 

BPI provides training and support to Boston Pizza franchisees, 

but the quality of franchised operations may be diminished by 

any number of factors beyond BPI’s control. Consequently, 

Boston Pizza franchisees may not successfully operate 

restaurants in a manner consistent with BPI’s standards and 

requirements, or may not hire and train qualifi ed managers 

and other restaurant personnel. If they do not, the image and 

reputation of BPI may suffer, and gross revenue and results of 

operations of the Boston Pizza Restaurants could decline.

The Closure of Boston Pizza Restaurants May Affect 
the Amount of the Royalty

The amount of the Royalty payable to the Partnership by BPI 

is dependent upon the Franchise Sales which is dependent, 

for its stability, on the number of Boston Pizza Restaurants 

that are included in the Royalty Pool and the Franchise Sales 

of those Boston Pizza Restaurants. Each year, a number of 

Boston Pizza Restaurants may close, there is no assurance 

that BPI will be able to open suffi cient new Boston Pizza 

Restaurants to replace the Franchise Sales of the Boston 

Pizza Restaurants that have closed.

Revenue from Franchisees

The ability of BPI to pay the Royalty is dependent, in part, 

on Boston Pizza franchisees’ ability to generate revenue and 

to pay royalties to BPI. Failure to achieve adequate levels of 

collection from Boston Pizza franchisees could have a serious 

effect on the ability of BPI to pay the Royalty.

Intellectual Property

The ability of BPI to maintain or increase its Franchise Sales 

will depend on its ability to maintain “brand equity” through 

the use of the BP Rights licensed from the Partnership. If the 

Partnership fails to enforce or maintain any of its intellectual 

property rights, BPI may be unable to capitalize on its efforts 

to establish brand equity. All registered trade marks in Canada 

can be challenged pursuant to provisions of the Trade-marks 

Act (Canada) and if any BP Rights are ever successfully 

challenged, this may have an adverse impact on Franchise 

Sales and therefore on the Royalty. The Partnership will own 

the BP Rights in Canada. However it will not own identical or 

similar trade marks owned by parties not related to BPI or the 

Partnership in other jurisdictions. Fourth parties may use such 

trade marks in jurisdictions other than Canada in a manner that 

diminishes the value of such trade marks. If this occurs, the 

value of the BP Rights may suffer and gross revenue by Boston 

Pizza Restaurants could decline. Similarly, negative publicity or 

events associated with such trade marks in jurisdictions outside 

of Canada may negatively effect the image and reputation of 

Boston Pizza Restaurants in Canada, resulting in a decline in 

gross revenue by Boston Pizza Restaurants.

Government Regulation

BPI is subject to various federal, provincial and local laws 

affecting its business. Each Boston Pizza Restaurant is subject 

to licensing and regulation by a number of governmental 

authorities, which may include alcoholic beverage control, 

smoking laws, health and safety and fi re agencies. Diffi culties 

in obtaining or failures to obtain the required licenses or 

approvals could delay or prevent the development of a new 

Boston Pizza Restaurant in a particular area.

Regulations Governing Alcoholic Beverages

The ability of Boston Pizza Restaurants to serve alcoholic 

beverages is an important factor in attracting customers. 

Alcoholic beverage control regulations require each 

Boston Pizza Restaurant to apply to provincial or municipal 

authorities, for a license or permit to sell alcoholic beverages 

on the premises and, in certain locations, to provide service 

for extended hours and on Sundays.
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Typically, licenses must be renewed annually and may be 

revoked or suspended for cause at any time. Alcoholic 

beverage control regulations relate to numerous aspects 

of daily operations of Boston Pizza Restaurants, including 

minimum age of patrons and employees, hours of operation, 

advertising, wholesale purchasing, inventory control, and 

handling, storage and dispensing of alcoholic beverages.

The failure of BPI or a Boston Pizza franchisee to retain a license 

to serve liquor for a Boston Pizza Restaurant would adversely 

affect that restaurant’s operations. BPI or a Boston Pizza 

franchisee may be subject to legislation in certain provinces, 

which may provide a person injured by an intoxicated person 

the right to recover damages from an establishment that 

wrongfully served alcoholic beverages to the intoxicated 

person. BPI carries host liquor liability coverage as part of its 

existing comprehensive general liability insurance.

Laws Concerning Employees

The operations of Boston Pizza Restaurants are also subject 

to minimum wage laws governing such matters as working 

conditions, overtime and tip credits. Signifi cant numbers 

of Boston Pizza Restaurants’ food service and preparation 

personnel are paid at rates related to the minimum wage and, 

accordingly, further increases in the minimum wage could 

increase Boston Pizza Restaurants’ labour costs.

Potential Litigation and Other Complaints

BPI and Boston Pizza franchisees may be the subject of 

complaints or litigation from guests alleging food related 

illness, injuries suffered on the premises or other food quality, 

health or operational concerns. Adverse publicity resulting 

from such allegations may materially affect the sales by Boston 

Pizza Restaurants, regardless of whether such allegations are 

true or whether BPI or a Boston Pizza franchisee is ultimately 

held liable.

Risk Related to the Structure of the Fund

Investment Eligibility

There can be no assurance that the Units will continue to be 

qualifi ed investments for registered retirement savings plans, 

registered retirement income funds, deferred profi t sharing 

income plans, registered education savings plans, registered 

disability savings plans or tax-free savings accounts under 

the Tax Act. The Tax Act imposes penalties for the acquisition 

or holding of non-qualifi ed or ineligible investments.

Dependence of the Fund on the Trust, Holdings LP 
and BPI

The cash distributions to the Unitholders are entirely dependent 

on the ability of the Trust to pay its interest obligations, if any, 

under the Series 1 Trust Notes, Series 2 Trust Notes and Series 

3 Trust Notes (collectively the “Trust Notes”), and to make 

distributions on the units of the Trust (the “Trust Units”) and 

upon the ability of BPI to pay the interest on the BP Loan and 

the ability of Holdings LP to meet its obligations to assume 

payment of the BP Loan as consideration for the purchase 

of Class C Units of the Partnership held by BPI or any related 

party or Class C limited partner units of the Partnership 

acquired by Holdings LP or a permitted transferee pursuant 

to the exchange agreement, as the case may be.  The ability 

of the Trust to pay its interest obligations or make distributions 

on units of the Trust held by the Fund is entirely dependent 

upon the ability of Holdings LP to make distributions on the 

limited partner units of Holdings LP held by the Trust. The 

ability of  Holdings LP to make distributions on limited partner 

units held by the Trust is entirely dependent upon the ability 

of the Partnership to make distributions on the limited partner 

units of the Partnership held by Holdings LP.  

The sole source of revenue of the Partnership and ultimately 

the Fund is the Royalty payable to the Partnership and the 

interest on the BP Loan payable to the Fund, by BPI. BPI 

collects franchise fees and other amounts from Boston Pizza 

franchisees and generates revenues from its corporate 

restaurants. In the conduct of the business, BPI pays 

expenses and incurs debt and obligations to fourth parties. 

These expenses, debts and obligations could impact the 

ability of BPI to pay the Royalty to the Partnership and interest 

on the BP Loan to the Fund.

The Partnership and the Fund are each entirely dependent 

upon the operations and assets of BPI to pay the Royalty 

to the Partnership and interest on the BP Loan to the Fund, 

and each is subject to the risks encountered by BPI in the 

operation of its business, including the risks relating to the 

casual dining restaurant industry referred to above and the 

results of operations and fi nancial condition of BPI.

Leverage: Restrictive Covenants

The Partnership has third-party debt service obligations under 

the Operating Loan, the Term Loan and the NCIB Credit Facility. 

The degree to which the Partnership is leveraged could have 

important consequences to the holders of the Units, including: 

(i) a portion of the Partnership’s cash fl ow from operations 

could be dedicated to the payment of the principal of and 

interest on its indebtedness, thereby reducing funds available 

for distribution to the Fund; and (ii) certain of the Partnership’s 

borrowings will be at variable rates of interest, which exposes 

the Partnership to the risk of increased interest rates. The 

Term Loan is due on September 22, 2012, the Operating 

Loan is due September 21, 2009 and the NCIB Credit Facility 

is due September 22, 2012, at which time the loans can be 
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extended at the request of the Partnership or the option of 

the Bank. If the Term Loan, the Operating Loan or the NCIB 

Credit Facility are not extended, the Partnership will need 

to refi nance such loans. There can be no assurance that 

refi nancing will be available to the Partnership, or available to 

the Partnership on acceptable terms. The Partnership’s ability 

to make scheduled payments of principal or interest on, or 

to refi nance, its indebtedness depends on future cash fl ows, 

which is dependent on the Royalty payments it receives from 

BPI, prevailing economic conditions, prevailing interest rate 

levels, and fi nancial, competitive, business and other factors, 

many of which are beyond its control.

The Term Loan, the Operating Loan and the NCIB Credit 

Facility contain numerous restrictive covenants that limit the 

discretion of the Partnership’s management with respect to 

certain business matters. These covenants place restrictions 

on, among other things, the ability of the Partnership to 

incur additional indebtedness, to create liens or other 

encumbrances, to pay distributions or make certain other 

payments, investments, loans and guarantees, to sell or 

otherwise dispose of assets, to allow a change of control, 

to change the terms of the Partnership’s limited partnership 

agreement and to merge or consolidate with another entity. 

A failure to comply with the obligations in the Term Loan, 

the Operating Loan or the NCIB Credit Facility could result 

in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could 

permit acceleration of the relevant indebtedness. If the 

indebtedness under the Term Loan, the Operating Loan and 

the NCIB Credit Facility were to be accelerated, there can be 

no assurance that the Partnership’s and the Trust’s assets 

would be suffi cient to repay in full that indebtedness.

Current and future borrowings by BPI could adversely affect 

BPI’s ability to pay the Royalty and interest on the BP Loan.

Cash Distributions are Not Guaranteed and Will 
Fluctuate with the Partnership’s Performance

Although the Fund intends to distribute the income earned by 

the Fund less expenses of the Fund and amounts, if any, paid 

by the Fund in connection with the redemption of Units, there 

can be no assurance regarding the amounts of income to be 

generated by the Fund or the Partnership. The actual amount 

distributed in respect of the Units will depend upon numerous 

factors, including payment of the Royalty and interest on the 

BP Loan by BPI.

Restrictions on Certain Unitholders and Liquidity 
of Units

The declaration of trust dated June 10, 2002 as amended 

and restated on July 17, 2002 and on September 22, 2008 

by which the Fund is governed (the “Declaration of Trust”) 

imposes various restrictions on Unitholders. Unitholders that 

are non-residents of Canada for the purposes of the Tax Act 

(“Non-residents”) and partnerships that are not Canadian 

partnerships for purposes of the Tax Act are prohibited from 

benefi cially owning more than 50% of the Units (on a non-

diluted and a fully-diluted basis). These restrictions may limit 

(or inhibit the exercise of) the rights of certain Unitholders, 

including Non-residents, to acquire Units, to exercise their 

rights as Unitholders and to initiate and complete take-over 

bids in respect of the Units. As a result, these restrictions 

may limit the demand for Units from certain Unitholders and 

thereby adversely affect the liquidity and market value of the 

Units held by the public. 

Fund not a Corporation

Investors are cautioned that, although the Fund is a legal 

entity, it is not generally regulated by established corporate 

law and Unitholders’ rights are governed primarily by the 

specifi c provisions of the Declaration of Trust of the Fund, 

which address such items as the nature of the Units, the 

entitlement of Unitholders to cash distributions, restrictions 

respecting Non-resident holdings, meetings of Unitholders, 

delegation of authority, administration, Fund governance and 

liabilities and duties of the Trustees of the Fund (“Trustees”) 

to Unitholders. As well, under certain existing legislation such 

as the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act and the Companies’ 

Creditor Arrangement Act, the Fund is not a legally recognized 

entity within the defi nitions of these statutes. In the event 

of an insolvency or restructuring of the Fund, the rights of 

Unitholders will be different from those of shareholders of an 

insolvent or restructuring corporation.

Nature of Units

Securities such as the Units are hybrids in that they share 

certain attributes common to both equity securities and debt 

instruments. The Units do not represent a direct investment 

in the Trust, the Partnership or Holdings LP and should not 

be viewed by investors as units in the Trust, the Partnership 

or Holdings LP. Unitholders will not have the statutory rights 

normally associated with ownership of shares of a corporation 

including, for example, the right to bring “oppression” or 

“derivative” actions. The Units represent a fractional interest 

in the Fund. The Fund’s only assets are Series 1 Trust 

Notes, Trust Units, the BP Loan, common shares of BPGP 

and common shares of Holdings GP. The price per Unit is a 

function of anticipated amount of distributions.

Possible Unitholder Liability

The Declaration of Trust of the Fund provides that no 

Unitholder will be subject to any liability whatsoever to any 

person in connection with the holding of Units. However, there 

remains a risk, which is considered by the Fund to be remote 

in the circumstances, that a Unitholder could be personally 
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liable despite such statement in the Declaration of Trust for 

the obligations of the Fund to the extent that claims are not 

satisfi ed out of the assets of the Fund. It is intended that the 

affairs of the Fund will be conducted to seek to minimize 

such risk wherever possible. There is legislation under the 

laws of British Columbia (discussed below) and certain 

other provinces which is intended to provide protection for 

benefi cial owners of trusts.

On March 30, 2006, the Income Trust Liability Act (British 

Columbia) came into force. This legislation creates a statutory 

limitation on the liability of benefi ciaries of British Columbia 

income trusts such as the Fund. The legislation provides that 

a unitholder of a trust will not be, as a benefi ciary, liable for any 

act, default, obligation or liability of the trustees. In addition, 

this legislation has not been judicially considered and it is 

possible that reliance on the legislation by a Unitholder could 

be successfully challenged on jurisdictional or other grounds.

Distribution of Securities on Redemption or Termination 
of the Fund

Upon a redemption of Units or termination of the Fund, the 

Trustees may distribute Series 2 Trust Notes and Series 3 

Trust Notes directly to the Unitholders, subject to obtaining all 

required regulatory approvals. There is currently no market for 

Series 2 Trust Notes or Series 3 Trust Notes. In addition, the 

Series 2 Trust Notes and Series 3 Trust Notes are not freely 

tradable and are not currently listed on any stock exchange. 

Securities of the Trust so distributed may not be qualifi ed 

investments for trusts governed by registered retirement 

savings plans, registered retirement income funds, deferred 

profi t sharing plans, registered education savings plans 

or registered disability savings plans, depending upon the 

circumstances at the time.

The Fund May Issue Additional Units Diluting Existing 
Unitholders’ Interests

The Declaration of Trust authorizes the Fund to issue an unlimited 

number of Units and special voting units for such consideration 

and on such terms and conditions as shall be established by 

the Trustees without the approval of any Unitholders. Additional 

Units will be issued by the Fund upon the exchange of the Class 

B Units held by BPI or any related party.

Income Tax Matters

There can be no assurance that Canadian federal income tax 

laws will not be changed in a manner that adversely affects 

the Fund and Unitholders. If the Fund ceases to qualify as 

a “mutual fund trust” under the Tax Act, the income tax 

treatment afforded to Unitholders would be materially and 

adversely different in certain respects.

Distributions on the Trust Units and interest on the BP Loan 

accrues at the Fund level for income tax purposes whether 

or not actually paid. Similarly, the Royalty may accrue at 

the Partnership level for income tax purposes whether or 

not actually paid. As a result, the income of the Partnership 

allocated to the Fund (through the Trust and Holdings LP), 

in respect of a particular fi scal year may exceed the cash 

distributed by the Partnership to the Fund (through the Trust 

and Holdings LP) in such year. The Declaration of Trust 

provides that an amount equal to the taxable income of the 

Fund may be distributed each year to Unitholders in order 

to reduce the Fund’s taxable income to zero. Where, in a 

particular year, the Fund does not have suffi cient available 

cash to distribute such amount to Unitholders (for instance, 

where distributions on the Trust Units or interest payments 

on the BP Loan are due but not paid in whole or in part), 

the Declaration of Trust provides that additional Units may 

be distributed to Unitholders in lieu of cash distributions. 

Unitholders will generally be required to include an amount 

equal to the fair market value of those distributed Units into 

their taxable income.

In 2007, the Tax Act was amended to impose on Canadian 

public income trusts an entity-level tax at a rate approximately 

equal to the rate applicable on income earned by a Canadian 

public corporation and to prevent such trusts from deducting 

trust distributions when calculating taxable income. Also the 

amendment recharacterizes such distributions as eligible 

dividends received from a taxable Canadian corporation. 

A transition period applicable to publicly traded trusts that 

existed prior to November 1, 2006 will delay the application 

of these rules until the earlier of January 1, 2011 or the year 

in which a publicly traded trust exceeds the “normal growth 

guidelines” issued by the Department of Finance. Management 

of BPI has advised that it does not expect the Fund to exceed 

the “normal growth guidelines” prior to 2011. The new rules 

(including the normal growth guidelines) may adversely effect 

the marketability of the Units of the Fund and the ability of the 

Fund to undertake fi nancings and acquisitions, and at such 

time as the new rules apply to the Fund, the distributions on 

Units of the Fund may be materially reduced.

Additional Information

Additional information relating to the Fund, the Partnership, the 

Trust, Holdings LP and BPI, including the annual information 

form of the Fund, is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com or 

on the Fund’s website at www.bpincomefund.com . 
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BOSTON PIZZA ROYALTIES INCOME FUND

Management’s Discussion & Analysis (continued)

Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information

Certain information in this Management’s Discussion and 

Analysis may constitute “forward-looking information” that 

involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties, future 

expectations and other factors which may cause the actual 

results, performance or achievements of the Fund, the Trust, 

the Partnership, Holdings LP, BPI, Boston Pizza Restaurants, 

or industry results, to be materially different from any future 

results, performance or achievements expressed or implied 

by such forward-looking information. When used in this 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis, this information may 

include words such as “anticipate”, “estimate”, “may”, “will”, 

“expect”, “believe”, “plan” and other similar terminology. This 

information refl ects current expectations regarding future 

events and operating performance and speaks only as of 

the date of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

This forward-looking information involves a number of risks, 

uncertainties and future expectations including, but not limited 

to: competition; changes in demographic trends; changes in 

consumer preferences and discretionary spending patterns; 

changes in national and local business and economic 

conditions; legislation and government regulation; accounting 

policies and practices; and the results of operations and 

fi nancial conditions of BPI and the Fund. The foregoing list 

of factors is not exhaustive and should be considered in 

conjunction with the risks and uncertainties set out above 

in “Risks & Uncertainties”. This Management’s Discussion 

and Analysis discusses some of the factors that could cause 

actual results to differ materially from those expressed in or 

underlying such forward-looking information. Forward-looking 

information is provided as of the date hereof and, except 

as required by law, we assume no obligation to update or 

revise forward-looking information to refl ect new events or 

circumstances.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS 
OF BOSTON PIZZA ROYALTIES INCOME FUND

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Boston Pizza Royalties Income Fund as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 

and the consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive income, accumulated defi cit and cash fl ows for the years 

then ended. These fi nancial statements are the responsibility of the Fund’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 

opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require 

that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the fi nancial statements are free of material 

misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial 

statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signifi cant estimates made by management, 

as well as evaluating the overall fi nancial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated fi nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the fi nancial position of the Fund 

as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash fl ows for the years then ended in accordance 

with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants

Vancouver, Canada

January 16, 2009

BOSTON PIZZA ROYALTIES INCOME FUND

Auditors’ Report to the Unitholders

BOSTON PIZZA ROYALTIES INCOME FUND

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2008 and 2007

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)   2008   2007

Assets       

Current assets:

 Cash $ 1  $ — 

 Interest receivable on note receivable from Boston Pizza International Inc. (note 7)  150   150

 Distributions and other receivables from Boston Pizza Royalties Limited Partnership   1,868   1,317

    2,019   1,467

Note receivable from Boston Pizza International Inc. (note 7)  24,000   24,000

Investment in Boston Pizza Royalties Limited Partnership (note 8)  156,408   125,198

   $ 182,427  $ 150,665

Liabilities and Unitholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:

 Distributions payable to Fund unitholders $ 1,750  $ 1,466

 Accounts payable  268    —  

    2,018   1,466

Future income taxes (note 13)  3,309   2,881

Unitholders’ equity:

 Fund units (note 10)  179,932   149,183

 Treasury units (note 10)  (268 )  —  

 Contributed surplus (note 10)  1,754    —

 Accumulated defi cit  (4,318 )  (2,865 )

    177,100   146,318

Organization and nature of operations (note 1)

Subsequent events (note 14)     

   $ 182,427  $ 150,665

See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements.

Approved by the Trustees:

       

     

John Cowperthwaite William Brown W. Murray Sadler
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BOSTON PIZZA ROYALTIES INCOME FUND

Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Income
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007

(in thousands of Canadian dollars except unit and per unit amounts)  2008   2007

Revenue (note 6(a)):     

 Equity income related to BPI royalties  $ 18,362  $ 15,232

 Net interest income  1,794   1,800

Earnings before interest and taxes  20,156   17,032

Future income taxes (note 13)  (428 )  (2,881 )

Net earnings and comprehensive income $ 19,728  $ 14,151

Weighted average units outstanding (note 10(b))  15,068,857   12,515,424

Basic and diluted earnings per Fund unit $ 1.31  $ 1.13

BOSTON PIZZA ROYALTIES INCOME FUND

Consolidated Statements of Accumulated Deficit
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)  2008   2007

Retained earnings (defi cit), beginning of year $ (2,865 ) $ 249

Net earnings for the period  19,728   14,151

Distributions declared to Fund unitholders  (21,181 )  (17,265 )

Accumulated defi cit, end of year $ (4,318 ) $ (2,865 )

See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements.
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BOSTON PIZZA ROYALTIES INCOME FUND

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)   2008   2007

Cash provided by (used in):      

Operations:

 Net earnings  $ 19,728  $ 14,151

 Items not affecting cash:

  Equity income   (18,362 )  (15,232 )

  Future income taxes   428   2,881

 Distributions received from Boston Pizza Royalties Limited Partnership  18,830   15,197 

 Change in non-cash working capital  268     —

     20,892   16,997

Investing:

 Return of Capital from Boston Pizza Royalties Limited Partnership (note 9)  4,024    —

Financing:

 Distributions paid to Fund unitholders  (20,897 )  (16,997 )

 Purchase of Fund units   (4,018 )  —  

     (24,915 )  (16,997 )

Increase in cash   1    —

Cash, beginning of year   —   —   

Cash, end of year  $ 1  $ —

Supplemental cash fl ow information (note 12)

See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements.
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BOSTON PIZZA ROYALTIES INCOME FUND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007

(In thousands of Canadian dollars except store, unit and per unit amounts)
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1. Organization and nature of operations:

(a) Organization:

Boston Pizza Royalties Income Fund (the “Fund”) is 

an unincorporated open-ended limited purpose trust 

established under the laws of the Province of British 

Columbia. Pursuant to the Declaration of Trust signed 

June 10, 2002, and as it was amended and restated on 

July 17, 2002 and September 22, 2008, an amount equal 

to all of the income of the Fund together with the non-

taxable portion of any net capital gain realized by the 

Fund will be distributed by the Fund to its unitholders 

each month at the discretion of the Fund’s trustees. As 

a result, the Fund is not currently liable for income taxes. 

Income tax obligations related to the distributions by the 

Fund are obligations of the unitholders. Income trusts will 

become taxable starting in 2011 (note 13).

The Fund was established to indirectly, through the 

Boston Pizza Royalties Limited Partnership (the 

“Partnership”), acquire the trademarks and trade names 

owned by Boston Pizza International Inc. (“BPI”) and 

used in connection with the operation of Boston Pizza 

Restaurants in Canada (collectively, the “BP Rights”). The 

BP Rights do not include the rights outside of Canada 

to any trademarks or trade names used by BPI or any 

affi liated entities in its business, and in particular do not 

include the rights outside of Canada to the trademarks 

registered or pending registration under the Trade-

Marks Act (Canada). 

The Fund was also established to acquire, directly from 

a bank, the BPI loan (the “BP Loan”) in the principal 

amount of $24 million.

(b) Nature of operations:

BPI carries on business as a franchisor of casual dining 

pizza and pasta restaurants and operates only in 

Canada. The rights to operations outside of Canada, 

which are owned by an affi liated company, and certain 

restaurants in Canada, as noted above, are not included 

in the Royalty Pool of the Fund.

Substantially all of the Fund’s revenues are earned 

from certain operations of BPI and, accordingly, the 

revenues of the Fund and its ability to pay distributions 

to unitholders is dependent on the ongoing ability of BPI 

to generate and pay royalties to the Fund.

2. Significant accounting policies:

(a) Basis of presentation:

These consolidated fi nancial statements include the 

accounts of the Fund, its wholly-owned subsidiaries 

Boston Pizza Holdings Trust (the “Trust”), Boston Pizza 

Holdings GP Inc. and Boston Pizza Holdings Limited 

Partnership (“Holdings LP”), and its 80%-owned 

subsidiary Boston Pizza GP Inc. (“BPGP”) (collectively 

the “Companies” or “Fund”). BPGP is the managing 

general partner and BPI is a general partner of the 

Partnership. All residual ownership of BPGP is either 

directly or indirectly controlled by BPI.

The consolidated fi nancial statements have been 

prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).

All signifi cant intercompany transactions have been 

eliminated.

The Partnership is considered to be a variable interest 

entity. BPI is the primary benefi ciary of the Partnership 

and accordingly is required to consolidate the 

Partnership. The Partnership was established to acquire 

and hold the BP Rights, which were previously owned by 

BPI. The Partnership and BPI also entered into a license 

and royalty agreement to allow BPI the use of the BP 

Rights for a term of 99 years, for which BPI pays 4% 

of the franchise sales of certain restaurants located in 

Canada (the “Royalty Pool”).

(b) Revenue recognition:

Interest revenue is recognized and accrued when earned.

(c) Investment in Boston Pizza Royalties Limited 
Partnership:

The investment in the Partnership is accounted for using 

the equity method. Under the equity method, the original 

cost of the investment is adjusted for the Fund’s share 

of post-acquisition earnings or losses and is reduced 

for distributions or advances received. The statement of 

earnings includes the Fund’s share of the Partnership’s 

earnings or losses for the year. The investment in the 

Partnership is also adjusted to record the fair value of 

Fund units issued by the Fund in exchange for Partnership 

units held by BPI.

(d) Distributions:

The amount of cash to be distributed to Fund unitholders 

is determined with reference to net earnings adjusted 

for amortization, other non-cash charges and interest 

on the term loan. Distributions to Fund unitholders are 

recorded when declared, made monthly and are subject 

to the Fund retaining such reasonable working capital 

reserves as may be considered appropriate by the 

trustees of the Fund.
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(e) Cash fl ows:

Declarations of distributions from the Fund are at the 

discretion of the trustees of the Fund. For the year 

ended December 31, 2008 $20.9 million (2007 – $17.0 

million) in discretionary cash distributions were paid to 

unitholders.

(f) Earnings per Fund unit:

The earnings per Fund unit are based on the weighted 

average number of Fund units outstanding during the 

period.

(g) Use of estimates:

The preparation of fi nancial statements requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that 

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at 

the date of the fi nancial statements and the reported 

amounts of revenues and expenses during the 

reporting period. Signifi cant areas requiring the use of 

management estimates relate to the determination of 

impairment in the value of investments and provisions 

for contingencies. Actual results could differ from those 

estimates.

(h) Capital Disclosures:

Effective January 1, 2008, the Fund adopted the 

recommendations of Canadian Institute of Chartered 

Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook Section 1535, Capital 

Disclosures that specifi es the disclosure of: (i) an entity’s 

objectives, policies and processes for managing capital; 

(ii) quantitative data about what the entity regards as 

capital; (iii) whether the entity has complied with any 

established capital requirements; and, (iv) if it has not 

complied, the consequences of such non-compliance 

(note 3).

(i) Financial Instruments:

Effective January 1, 2008 the Fund has also adopted 

CICA Handbook Sections 3862 and 3863 that replace 

Handbook Section 3861, Financial Instruments — 

Disclosure and Presentation, revising and enhancing 

its disclosure requirements, and carrying forward its 

presentation requirements (notes 4 and 5). These new 

sections place increased emphasis on disclosures about 

the nature and extent of risks arising from fi nancial 

instruments and how the entity manages those risks.

(j) Future changes in accounting policies:

International Financial Reporting Standards

In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards 

Board confi rmed its plan to converge with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The Fund must 

prepare its interim and annual consolidated fi nancial 

statements in accordance with IFRS for the periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Fund has 

formally established an IFRS project team consisting 

of members of its fi nance group and is lead by BPGP’s 

Chief Financial Offi cer. The team reports regularly to the 

Trustees of the Fund. The team is currently studying 

the impacts of IFRS on the Fund’s accounting policies, 

information systems, internal controls over fi nancial 

reporting, and contractual arrangements and covenants. 

The Fund will report on the team’s progress in these 

areas in future communications.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In February 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Section 

3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which supersedes 

Sections 3062 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets and 

3450 Research and Development Costs. Section 3064 

provides additional guidance on when expenditures qualify 

for recognition as intangible assets and requires that 

costs be deferred only when relating to an item meeting 

the asset defi nition. The Fund will adopt this standard for 

the fi scal year commencing January 1, 2009.

3. Capital Disclosures:

The Fund’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard 

its ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue 

to provide distributions to unitholders and benefi ts for other 

stakeholders. The Fund includes its equity, comprised of 

Fund units, contributed surplus, and accumulated defi cit, in 

its defi nition of capital as well as the debt of the Partnership, 

which it controls through its majority ownership interest. 

This debt does not appear on the Fund’s balance sheet 

as the Fund does not consolidate the Partnership on the 

basis of variable interest entity guidance. See note 8 for the 

summarized fi nancial statement data of the Partnership.

The Fund seeks to maintain a balance between the higher 

returns that might be possible with the leverage afforded by 

higher borrowing levels and the security afforded by a sound 

capital structure. It does this by maintaining appropriate debt 

levels in the Partnership in relation to its cash fl ows, working 

capital and other assets in order to provide the maximum 

distributions to unitholders commensurate with the level of 

risk. Also, the Fund utilizes the Partnership’s debt capabilities 

to buy back units, where appropriate, in order to maximize 

cash distribution rates for remaining unitholders.

The Fund maintains formal fi nancial policies to manage its 

capital structure that are adjusted to respond to changes 

in economic conditions, the underlying risks inherent in its 

operations, and capital requirements to maintain and grow 

its operations. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 
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structure, the Fund may adjust the amount of distributions 

paid to unitholders, purchase units in the market, or issue 

new units. The Fund’s policy is to distribute all available cash 

from operations to the Fund for distribution to unitholders 

after provisions for cash required for working capital and 

other reserves considered advisable by the Fund’s trustees. 

The Fund has eliminated the impact of seasonal fl uctuations 

by equalizing monthly distributions.

The Partnership had long-term debt of $8.9 million at 

December 31, 2008 (2007 – $5 million). In addition, the 

Partnership’s banking covenants currently require it to limit 

its funded debt to EBITDA to 1.25:1. The Partnership’s funded 

debt to EBITDA ratio at December 31, 2008 was 0.36:1 which 

is below its banking covenant requirements. 

The Fund is not subject to any other statutory capital 

requirements and has no commitments to sell or otherwise 

issue shares, other than the commitment to exchange Class 

B general partner units of the Partnership (“Class B Units”) 

held by BPI for Fund units, as described in note 6(c).

4. Financial Instruments:

The Fund classifi ed its fi nancial instruments as follows:

• Cash as held-for-trading, which is measured at fair 

 value. 

• Interest receivable on note receivable from BPI, 

distributions and other receivables from the 

Partnership and note receivable from BPI as loans 

and receivables, which are initially measured at fair 

value and subsequently at amortized cost. 

• Distributions payable to Fund unitholders and accounts 

payable as other fi nancial liabilities, which are 

measured at amortized cost. 

• The requirement of the Fund to settle its note 

receivable from BPI in exchange for Class C general 

partner units (“Class C Units”) is classifi ed as a 

derivative instrument. The Fund has reviewed the net 

impact of this potential exchange requirement on its 

cash fl ows and has determined there is no signifi cant 

value applicable to this feature.

The fair values of interest receivable, distributions receivable, 

distributions payable and accounts payable approximate their 

carrying amount largely due to the short-term maturities of 

these instruments. 

5. Financial Risk Management:

The Fund is primarily exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk, 

and interest rate risk, as they relate to the Fund’s identifi ed 

fi nancial instruments.

Credit risk

Credit risk is defi ned by the Fund as an unexpected loss 

in cash and earnings if the other party is unable to pay its 

obligations in due time. The Fund’s exposure to credit risk 

arises from its distributions receivable, interest receivable 

and notes receivable, all being due from either BPI or the 

Partnership. The Fund monitors this risk through its regular 

review of operating and fi nancing activities of BPI. Since its 

inception, the Fund has never failed to collect its interest or 

distributions receivable on a timely basis.

The performance of the Fund is directly dependent upon 

the royalty and interest payments received from BPI. The 

amount of royalty received from BPI is dependent on 

various factors that may affect the casual dining sector of 

the restaurant industry including competition and general 

economic conditions. In general, the restaurant industry, and 

in particular the casual dining sector, is intensely competitive 

with respect to price, service, location and food quality. If BPI 

and the Boston Pizza franchisees are unable to successfully 

compete in the casual dining sector or the economy is weak 

for an extended period of time, Franchise Sales may be 

adversely affected. The reduction of royalties may impact the 

ability for BPI to pay the royalty or interest on the loan to BPI 

from the Fund.

As at December 31, 2008, the Fund had no provision for credit 

risk recorded in its fi nancial statements.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk results from the Fund’s potential inability to meet 

its fi nancial liabilities. Beyond effective net working capital 

and cash management, the Fund constantly monitors the 

operations and cash fl ows of the Partnership to ensure that 

current and future distributions to Unitholders will be met. At 

December 31, 2008, all liabilities of the Fund had a maturity of 

less than three months.

The Fund’s capital resources are comprised of cash and cash 

equivalents, and Partnership’s undrawn $1 million operating 

line of credit and $20 million term loan for the Fund’s Normal 

Course Issuer Bid (“NCIB Credit Facility). Also included 

are cash fl ows from operating activities and reductions in 

distributions associated with purchases made through the 

Fund’s Normal Course Issuer Bid. The $1 million operating 

line of credit pays interest at the bank’s prime rate, and the 

NCIB Credit Facility pays interest at the bank’s prime rate plus 

0.5% or other variable interest rates as determined by the 

Partnership.
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The Partnership’s NCIB Credit Facility is secured by a 

fi rst charge over the assets of the Partnership, has a four 

year term, and has no scheduled repayment terms. As at 

December 31, 2008, $3.9 million had been drawn from the 

NCIB Credit Facility.

The Fund is subject to certain guarantor covenants and 

reporting requirements arising from the Partnership’s $5 

million term loan, its NCIB Credit Facility, and its undrawn $1 

million operating line of credit.

Interest rate risk 

The Fund’s interest rate risk exposure is mainly related to 

an interest-bearing note receivable from BPI. As this note 

receivable has a fi xed interest rate of 7.5%, is from a related 

party, and is due in July 2042, the Fund does not perform 

interest rate risk management to minimize the overall fi nancial 

interest rate risk.

6. Operations:

Equity and interest income earned by the Fund has been 

derived as follows:         

   2008   2007

Restaurants in the Royalty Pool  298   266

Franchise sales reported by 
 restaurants in the Royalty Pool $ 646,275  $ 583,775

Royalty income — 4% of 
 Franchise sales $ 25,851  $ 23,351

Administrative and 
 interest expenses  (1,587 )  (1,101 )

Partnership earnings for the 
 period before undernoted  24,264   22,250

BPI’s interest in the earnings 
 of the Partnership  (5,902 )  (7,018 )

Equity income related to BPI 
 royalties earned by Fund  18,362   15,232

Net interest income  1,794   1,800

Net earnings before 
 income taxes $ 20,156  $ 17,032

(a) On January 1 of each year, the number of restaurants in 

the Royalty Pool on which BPI pays a royalty to the Fund 

is adjusted to include franchise sales from new Boston 

Pizza Restaurants opened less franchise sales from 

any Boston Pizza Restaurants that have permanently 

closed during the previous year. In return for adding this 

net franchise revenue to the Royalty Pool, BPI receives 

the right to indirectly acquire additional Fund units (the 

“Additional Entitlement”). BPI initially receives 80% of the 

Additional Entitlement with the balance received when 

the actual full year performance of the new restaurants 

is known with certainty.

BOSTON PIZZA ROYALTIES INCOME FUND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

On January 1, 2008, 34 (2007 – 41) new Boston Pizza 

Restaurants that opened during the period from January 

1, 2007 to December 31, 2007 (2007 – January 1, 2006 

to December 31, 2006) were added to the Royalty Pool. 

The Franchise sales of these 34 new restaurants were 

initially estimated at $69.1 million. The total number of 

restaurants in the Royalty Pool was increased to 300. Two 

restaurants that closed during the period were removed 

from the Royalty Pool. There were 298 restaurants in 

the Royalty Pool at December 31, 2008. As a result of 

the contribution of the additional net sales to the Royalty 

Pool, and assuming 100% of the Additional Entitlement, 

BPI’s Additional Entitlement is equivalent to 1,889,459 

(2007 – 2,158,478) Fund units. BPI will also receive a 

proportionate increase in monthly distributions from the 

Partnership. Of the Additional Entitlement, 20% (2008 – 

377,892 units; 2007 – 431,696 units), remain unissued 

and are not eligible for conversion to Fund units until 

January 1, 2009 (2007 units – January 1, 2008) based on 

the actual performance of the new stores (see note 14).

(b) On January 1, 2008, adjustments to royalty payments and 

Additional Entitlement were made based on the actual 

performance of 40 net new restaurants added to 

the Royalty Pool on January 1, 2007. Based on these 

adjustments, BPI received its pro rata portion of the 

remaining Additional Entitlement, 386,341 Fund units.

(c) On March 13, 2008, BPI exchanged Class B general 

partner units (“Class B Units”) of the Partnership for 

2,945,246 Fund units. BPI then sold these Fund units 

to the public. As of December 31, 2008, BPI holds 

exchangeable Partnership units equivalent to 2,140,392 

(2007 – 3,187,730) Fund units, or 12% of the issued and 

outstanding units on a fully diluted basis.

7. Note receivable from Boston Pizza 
 International Inc.:       
    2008   2007

Note receivable with      
 interest payable monthly 
 at 7.5% per annum, 
 due July 17, 2042 $ 24,000  $ 24,000

The note arose at the time of the acquisition of the trademarks 

and trade names from BPI in July 2002 and is secured by a 

general security agreement. The note may not be assigned 

without the prior consent of BPI.

BPI, as the holder of 2,400,000 Class C Units, has the right to

transfer such Class C Units to the Holdings LP in consideration 

for the assumption by the Holdings LP of, and the concurrent 

release of BPI of its obligations with respect to, an amount of 

the indebtedness under the BP Loan equal to $10.00 for each 

Class C Unit transferred.
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8. Investment in Boston Pizza Royalties 
 Limited Partnership:

Balance as at December 31, 2006    $ 98,855

Acquisition of additional Partnership units 
 by issuing Fund units     26,576

Equity income     15,232

Distributions from the Partnership     (15,465 )

Balance as at December 31, 2007     125,198

Acquisition of additional Partnership units 
 by issuing Fund units     36,521

Equity income     18,362

Distributions from the Partnership     (19,381 )

Return of capital (note 9)     (4,292 )

Balance as at December 31, 2008    $ 156,408

Summarized balance sheet of the Partnership is as follows:   

    2008   2007

Current assets $ 7,894  $ 9,273

Long-term assets, consisting 
 of the BP Rights  216,865   191,192

Total assets $ 224,759  $ 200,465

Current liabilities $ 7,687  $ 8,112

Long-term liabilities  8,875   5,000

Partners’ surplus  208,197   187,353

Total liabilities and surplus $ 224,759  $ 200,465

9. Promissory note:

To fund purchases under the Normal Course Issuer Bid 

(“NCIB”), the Fund may borrow certain amounts from the 

Partnership under a promissory note (the “Note”). The 

amounts advanced under the Note are repayable upon 

demand. During 2008 the Partnership advanced $4.0 million 

to the Fund. This amount was settled by way of a return of 

capital from the Partnership to the Fund. The amounts drawn 

on the Note bear interest at a rate equal to the annual rate 

of interest the Partnership pays under the Partnership’s 

NCIB Credit Facility plus 0.1%. As at December 31, 2008, the 

amount payable from the Fund to the Partnership under the 

Note was nil.

The Partnership has entered into an agreement with a 

Canadian Chartered Bank whereby the bank provided the 

Partnership with the NCIB Credit Facility available in loans at 

variable and fi xed interest rates as selected by the Partnership 

to fund purchases under the NCIB. The Partnership had 

drawn $3.9 million on the NCIB Credit Facility as at December 

31, 2008 (2007 – nil).

10. Fund units:

(a) The Declaration of Trust of the Fund provides that an 

unlimited number of Fund units may be issued. Each Fund 

unit is transferable and represents an equal undivided 

benefi cial interest in any distributions of the Fund and in 

the net assets of the Fund. All units have equal rights 

and privileges. Each Fund unit entitles the holder thereof 

to participate equally in the allocations and distributions 

and to one vote at all meetings of Fund unitholders for 

each whole Fund unit held. The Fund units issued are not 

subject to future calls or assessments.

Pursuant to the Declaration of Trust, the holders, other 

than the Fund or its subsidiaries, of the Class A general 

partner units of the Partnership (“Class A Units”) and 

Class B Units are entitled to vote in all votes of Fund 

unitholders as if they were holders of the number of 

Fund units they would receive if Class A Units and Class 

B Units were exchanged into Fund units as at the record 

date of such votes, and will be treated in all respects as 

Fund unitholders for the purpose of any such votes.

Fund units are redeemable at any time at the option of 

the holder at a price based on market value as defi ned in 

the trust agreement, subject to a maximum of $50,000 

in cash redemptions by the Fund in any one month. The 

limitation may be waived at the discretion of the Trustees 

of the Fund. Redemption in excess of these amounts, 

assuming no waiving of the limitation, shall be paid by 

way of distribution in specie of a pro rata number of 

securities of the Trust held by the Fund.

On September 22, 2008 the Toronto Stock Exchange 

(“TSX”) approved the Fund’s notice of intention to make 

a Normal Course Issuer Bid. The NCIB permits the 

Fund to acquire up to 1,336,154 Fund units through the 

facilities of the TSX from October 1, 2008 to no later than 

September 30, 2009. The maximum purchase amount of 

1,336,154 Fund units represented approximately 8.5%, of 

its then 15,696,168 issued and outstanding Fund units, or 

approximately 10.0% of its public fl oat of 13,361,545 Fund 

units as at September 22, 2008. The Fund is permitted 

to purchase a maximum of 16,736 Fund units on a daily 

basis up to March 31, 2009, then 8,368 thereafter, subject 

to a block purchase exemption. For the three month 

period from October 1 to December 31, 2008, the Fund 

acquired a total of 511,200 Fund units at an average cost 

of $8.09 per unit for a total cost of $4.3 million including 

legal costs of $0.2 million. All Fund units acquired by the 

Fund are cancelled prior to December 31, 2008 and the 

remaining 36,000 Fund units were cancelled in February, 

2009. The excess of the carrying value of the cancelled 
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Fund units over the total cost of acquisition of $1.8 million 

has been credited to contributed surplus.

 

(b) Fund units outstanding:                         

   Number of Fund units  Amount

Balance as at
 December 31, 2006  10,996,700  $ 122,607

Exchange of Class B Units 
 for Fund units  1,754,222   26,576

Balance as at 
 December 31, 2007  12,750,922   149,183

Exchange of Class B Units 
 for Fund units  2,945,246   36,521

Repurchase and cancellation 
 of Fund units  (475,200 )  (5,772 )

Balance as at 
 December 31, 2008  15,220,968  $ 179,932

       

   2008   2007

Weighted average Fund      
 units outstanding  15,068,857   12,515,424

(c)  Exchangeable units of the Partnership:

Units (underlying the 
 Class B Units)   2,140,284   3,187,730

BPI has the right to exchange each Class B Unit it holds 

for a number of Fund units based, at any time, on a 

defi ned calculation which is based in part on the net 

franchise sales from restaurants opened subsequent to 

July 17, 2002. Class B Units held by BPI carry voting rights 

equivalent to the number of units into which such Class 

B Units are exchangeable at that time. Subject to the 

prior rights of the holders of Class C Units, the holders 

of the Class B Units are entitled to receive a cumulative 

preferential cash distribution equal to the distribution on 

Class C Units multiplied by the number of Class B Units 

issued, multiplied by a defi ned ratio which is based in 

part on the net franchise sales from restaurants opened 

subsequent to July 17, 2002, and divided by the number 

of issued ordinary limited partner units of the Partnership. 

Class B Units are also entitled to a pro rata share of 

residual distributions of the Partnership.

As described in note 6(a), on January 1, 2008, Class B 

Units of the Partnership received Additional Entitlement 

equivalent to 1,889,459 Fund units (2007 – 2,158,478 

units), upon adding new stores to the Royalty Pool.

11.  Related party transactions:

The Fund has engaged BPI to provide certain administrative 

services on behalf of the Fund. 

BPI is a related party by virtue of holding certain Partnership 

units.

12.  Supplemental cash flow information:  

    2008   2007

Supplemental cash fl ow 
 information:

 Net interest received $ 1,794  $ 1,800

Non-cash fi nancing and 
 investing activities:

 Acquisition of additional 
 Partnership units by
 issuing Fund units  36,521   26,576

13. Income taxes: 

On October 31, 2006, the Canadian federal government 

announced proposed tax legislation that would change the 

income tax rules applicable to publicly traded trusts rendering 

income trusts taxable starting in 2011. On June 12, 2007, the 

proposed tax legislation passed third reading in the House of 

Commons. As a result, the associated income tax became 

substantively enacted for accounting purposes. The legislation 

imposes a tax of 31.5% on Canadian public income trusts. 

This rate was subsequently lowered in December 2007 and 

then again in June 2008 to 27.5% for 2011 and 26% for 2012 

and onwards. As a transition period applies to publicly traded 

trusts that existed prior to November 1, 2006, the new tax is 

not expected to apply to the Fund until January 1, 2011.

Future income taxes are recorded on the temporary 

differences arising between the accounting and tax bases 

of balance sheet assets and liabilities. Historically the Fund 

had been exempt from recognizing future income taxes 

associated with temporary differences.

The impact on the Fund’s consolidated fi nancial statements 

was to record a future income tax expense of $428 (2007 – 

$2,881) resulting in a corresponding increase to the future 

income tax liability to $3,309 (2007 – $2,881). The future 

income tax liability arises mainly as a result of the Fund 

recording, in the current year, its cumulative share of the 

temporary differences between the accounting and tax 

bases of the BP Rights owned by the Partnership generated 

since the inception of the Fund. This additional expense had 

no impact on the Fund’s cash fl ow for the year. 

BOSTON PIZZA ROYALTIES INCOME FUND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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The reconciliation to statutory tax rate is as follows: 

       2008

Earnings before income taxes    $ 20,156

Combined Canadian federal and provincial rate  34.46%

Computed expected tax expense     6,946

Decreased by:

 Current year’s earnings not taxable    (6,946 )

Increased by:

 Change in the tax base of the BP Rights    428

Total tax expense per statement of earnings   $ 428

The tax effect of the temporary difference that gives rise to 

the future tax liability is as follows:                    

       2008

Future tax liabilities:

 Investment in the Boston Pizza Royalties 

 Limited Partnership    $ 3,309

Net future tax liability    $ 3,309

14. Subsequent events: 

(a) On January 1, 2009, adjustments to royalty payments 

and Additional Entitlement were made based on the 

actual performance of 34 new restaurants added to 

the Royalty Pool on January 1, 2008. Based on these 

adjustments, BPI will receive its pro rata portion of the 

remaining Additional Entitlement, 248,629 Fund units. 

(b) On January 1, 2009, 25 new Boston Pizza Restaurants 

that opened during the period from January 1, 2008 to 

December 31, 2008 were added to the Royalty Pool 

while two restaurants that closed during the period 

were removed. The Franchise sales of these 23 net 

new restaurants has been estimated at $43.8 million. 

The total number of restaurants in the Royalty Pool has 

increased to 323. As a result of the contribution of the 

additional net sales to the Royalty Pool, and assuming 

100% of the Additional Entitlement, BPI’s Additional 

Entitlement is equivalent to 1,175,106 (2007 – 1,889,459) 

Fund units. BPI will also receive a proportionate increase 

in monthly distributions from the Partnership. Of the 

Additional Entitlement, 20% (2009 – 235,021 units; 2008 

– 377,892 units), remain unissued and are not eligible for 

conversion to Fund units until January 1, 2010 (2008 units 

– January 1, 2009) based on the actual performance of 

the new stores.

BOSTON PIZZA ROYALTIES INCOME FUND
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BOSTON PIZZA INTERNATIONAL INC.

Management’s Discussion & Analysis
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007

Financial Highlights

The tables below set out selected historical information and other data from the consolidated fi nancial statements of 

Boston Pizza International Inc. (“BPI” or the “Company”), which should be read in conjunction with the consolidated fi nancial 

statements of BPI for the three and twelve month periods ended December 31, 2008.               

   Jan.1, 2008 to   Jan.1, 2007 to  Jan.1, 2006 to  
(in thousands of dollars)   Dec. 31, 2008  Dec. 31, 2007   Dec. 31, 2006

Restaurant System Franchise Sales1     $ 658,727  $ 603,800  $ 521,202  

Income Statement Data   

Total Revenue    $ 70,333  $ 65,834  $ 56,467

Non-controlling interest related to royalty expense    $ 19,036  $ 15,232  $ 12,230

Earnings before gain (loss) on sale of units, provision for impaired long-term 
 receivables and income taxes    $ 5,895  $ 6,572  $ 5,069

(in thousands of dollars)   Dec. 31, 2008  Dec. 31, 2007  Dec. 31, 2006

Total assets    $ 78,444  $ 73,391  $ 67,482 

Total long-term liabilities    $ 39,368  $ 37,465  $ 45,008

Deferred gain and other    $ 125,274  $ 89,555  $ 67,065

           

  Q4   Q3   Q2   Q1
(in thousands of dollars)  2008   2008   2008   2008

Restaurant System Franchise Sales1 $ 164,271  $ 175,709  $ 165,334  $ 153,414

Income Statement Data    

Total Revenue $ 18,429  $ 17,994  $ 17,868  $ 16,041

Non-controlling interest related to royalty expense $ 5,221  $ 5,070  $ 4,868  $ 3,877

Earnings before gain (loss) on sale of units, provision 
 for impaired long-term receivables and income taxes $ 1,152  $ 2,260  $ 1,893   $  590

  Q4   Q3   Q2   Q1
(in thousands of dollars)  2007   2007   2007   2007

Restaurant System Franchise Sales1 $ 155,116  $ 162,512  $ 148,552  $ 137,620  

Income Statement Data    

Total Revenue $ 16,942  $ 16,693  $ 18,449  $ 13,750

Non-controlling interest related to royalty expense $ 3,842  $ 4,246  $ 3,864   $ 3,280

Earnings before gain (loss) on sale of units, provision 
 for impaired long-term receivables and income taxes  $ 2,071  $ 2,085  $  1,444  $ 972
 1 Franchise Sales is the basis on which the royalty is payable; it means the gross revenues of Boston Pizza Restaurants (as defi ned herein) in 

respect of which the royalty is payable. The term “gross revenue” refers to the gross revenue: (i) of the corporate Boston Pizza Restaurants in 
Canada owned by BPI; and (ii) reported to BPI by franchised Boston Pizza Restaurants in Canada, without audit or other form of independent 
assurance, and in the case of both (i) and (ii), after deducting revenue from the sale of liquor, beer, wine and tobacco and discounts and 
excluding applicable sales and similar taxes. Nevertheless, BPI periodically conducts audits of Franchise Sales reported to it by its franchisees, 
and the Franchise Sales reported herein include results from sales audits of earlier periods conducted in 2008 and the proceeds from insurance 
claims as the result of fi re damage to two stores in the fi rst quarter of 2008.

Overview

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis covers the fourth 

quarter period from October 1, 2008 to December 31, 2008 

(the “Period”) and the year period from January 1, 2008 to 

December 31, 2008 (the “Year”) and is dated February 6, 

2009. A copy of this report and additional information about 

BPI and the Boston Pizza Royalties Income Fund (the “Fund”) 

is available at www.sedar.com or www.bpincomefund.com.

BPI is a privately controlled company and is the franchisor of the 

Boston Pizza concept in Canada. The Company competes in 

the casual dining sector of the restaurant industry and Boston 

Pizza is the number one casual dining brand in Canada. With 

325 restaurants stretching from Victoria to St. John’s, Boston 

Pizza has more locations and serves more customers annually 

than any other casual dining restaurant chain in Canada.

The Company charges a 7% royalty fee on Franchise Sales 

for all full-service Boston Pizza Restaurants open in Canada 

and a 5% royalty fee on Franchise Sales for the four Boston 

Pizza Quick Express restaurants that are open in Canada 

(collectively “Boston Pizza Restaurants”). BPI pays the Fund 

a 4% royalty fee based on Franchise Sales from the Boston 

Pizza Restaurants in the royalty pool (the “Royalty Pool”) for 
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the use of the Boston Pizza trademarks (the “BP Rights”2). As at 

February 6, 2009 there are 323 restaurants in the Royalty Pool.

On January 1 of each year (“Adjustment Date”), an adjustment 

is made to add to the Royalty Pool new Boston Pizza 

Restaurants that opened and to remove any Boston Pizza 

Restaurants that closed since the last Adjustment Date. In 

return for adding this additional royalty revenue, BPI receives 

the right to indirectly acquire additional Fund units (the 

“Additional Entitlements”). The adjustment for new Franchise 

Sales added to the Royalty Pool is designed to be accretive 

for unitholders of the Fund (“Unitholders”). The Additional 

Entitlements are calculated at 92.5% of the estimated net 

royalty revenue added to the Royalty Pool, divided by the yield 

of the Fund, divided by the weighted average unit price. BPI 

receives 80% of the Additional Entitlements initially, with the 

balance received when the actual full year performance of the 

new restaurants is known with certainty. BPI receives 100% 

of distributions from the Additional Entitlements throughout 

the year. Once these new restaurants have been part of the 

Royalty Pool for a full year, an audit of the royalty revenues of 

these restaurants received from BPI is performed. At such 

time an adjustment is made to reconcile distributions paid to 

BPI and the Additional Entitlements received by BPI. 

During 2005, the Boston Pizza Royalties Limited Partnership 

(the “Partnership”) was determined to be a variable interest 

entity in accordance with the criteria established in the new 

Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants’ Guideline, 

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (“AcG-15”). As a 

result of this guideline, the Fund accounts for its investment 

in the Partnership on an equity basis and BPI’s fi nancial 

statements consolidate the Partnership. Readers are advised 

that this is an accounting basis of presentation only and 

that earnings and distributions attributable to Unitholders 

are not impacted nor does this impact the contractual 

obligations between the Fund, and the Partnership, and BPI. 

The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Fund therefore 

include the accounts of the Fund, its wholly-owned (directly 

and indirectly) subsidiaries Boston Pizza Holdings Trust 

(the “Trust”), Boston Pizza Holdings GP Inc., Boston Pizza 

Holdings Limited Partnership and its 80% owned subsidiary 

Boston Pizza GP Inc. (“BPGP”) (collectively, the “Companies”). 

BPGP is the managing general partner of the Partnership. 

BOSTON PIZZA INTERNATIONAL INC.

Management’s Discussion & Analysis (continued)

All residual ownership of the Companies is either directly or 

indirectly controlled by BPI. 

Business Strategy

The success of Boston Pizza can be attributed to three 

simple underlying principles that are the foundation for all of 

our strategic decision-making – the “Three Pillars” strategy. 

•  The commitment to franchisee profi tability

•  The commitment to continually enhance the 
 Boston Pizza brand

• The commitment to continually improve the 
 customer experience

The Company realizes that its franchisees have to be 

profi table to succeed. To enhance profi tability and to facilitate 

the growth of Boston Pizza, BPI aggressively enhances and 

promotes the Boston Pizza brand through national television 

and radio advertising, and national and local promotions. The 

costs associated with national marketing of Boston Pizza 

are paid for by Boston Pizza Co-op Advertising (the “Co-

op”). Franchisees pay 2.5% of Franchise Sales into the Co-

op; 76% of these funds are used to purchase television and 

radio media advertising, and the remaining 24% is used for 

production of materials and administration. Both Boston Pizza 

franchisees and the corporate support staff continuously fi nd 

new ways to improve the customers’ experience so that they 

will return to Boston Pizza again and again. Management is 

confi dent that this “Three Pillars” strategy will continue to 

focus BPI’s efforts and develop new markets and continue to 

strengthen Boston Pizza’s position as Canada’s number one 

casual dining brand.

The following information provides additional analysis of the 

operations and fi nancial position of the Company and should be 

read in conjunction with the consolidated fi nancial statements 

and accompanying notes. The fi nancial statements are in 

Canadian dollars and have been prepared in accordance with 

Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Operating Results

BPI continued to post positive growth in the Period with 

system-wide Franchise Sales growth of 6.4%. For the Year, 

Franchise Sales increased by 9.4% versus 2007. Overall 

Franchise Sales growth is achieved through new store 

openings and same store sales growth (“SSSG”). 

Same Store Sales Growth and Renovations

SSSG, the key driver of yield growth for individual Unitholders 

of the Fund, is the increase in gross revenues of Boston Pizza 

Restaurants as compared to gross revenues for the same 

period in the previous year, where restaurants were open for 

the full period in each year. SSSG was 0.1% for the Period, 

compared to 3.3% SSSG reported in the fourth quarter of 
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2007. For the Year, SSSG was 0.7%, compared to 5.7% SSSG 

reported in the same period one year ago. Sales results for 

both the Period and Year were negatively impacted by the 

weaker general economic conditions and the higher number 

of Boston Pizza Restaurants which temporarily closed to 

undergo renovations compared to the same periods one 

year ago. Boston Pizza Restaurants are required under the 

franchise agreement to undergo a complete renovation every 

seven years to the then current design standards. In 2008, six 

renovations were completed in the fourth quarter and a total of 

35 during the Year compared to two and 19 respectively in the 

same periods one year ago. Locations typically close for two 

to three weeks to complete the renovation and experience 

an incremental sales increase in the year following the re-

opening. Historically, Franchise Sales growth in the fi rst year 

following the completion of a full restaurant renovation has 

been 5%-10% higher than the national average for the same 

period. BPI management expects that the renovations will have 

a positive impact on sales going forward as the completed 

restaurants have re-opened for business. The SSSG reported 

for the Period and the Year includes results from sales audits 

conducted during the year and the proceeds from insurance 

claims as the result of fi re damage to two stores in the fi rst 

quarter of 2008.

New Store Openings 

During the Period, 15 new Boston Pizza Restaurants were 

opened and no locations were closed. During the Year, 25 

new Boston Pizza Restaurants were opened and two were 

closed. The number of Boston Pizza Restaurants opened in 

2008 was lower than the initial estimate of 30 to 35 primarily 

due to the slower than expected pace of commercial real 

estate development as a result of relatively weaker general 

economic conditions. Boston Pizza has closed only three 

restaurants during the past six years, a fi gure that is well 

below industry averages.

Subsequent to December 31, 2008, Boston Pizza has 

opened two new restaurants and completed one renovation, 

bringing the total number of locations open as of February 6, 

2009 to 325.

Revenues

BPI’s revenue is mainly derived from royalty income from 

franchised Boston Pizza Restaurants, sales in corporately 

owned restaurants, initial franchise fees, and franchise 

renewal fees. BPI’s revenues were $17.6 million during the 

Period and $16.0 million during the same period in 2007. BPI’s 

revenues were $67.1 million for the Year and $63.2 million 

during the same period in 2007. BPI presents the revenue 

of developing territories separately until the operational 

break-even is achieved. BPI’s entry into the Quebec market 

is currently presented as a developing territory. The revenue 

for Quebec totaled $0.9 million during the Period and $1.0 

million for the same period in 2007. For the Year, revenue 

for Quebec totaled $3.2 million and $2.6 million for the same 

period in 2007. The increase in revenue is primarily attributed 

to royalties from new store openings. 

Expenses

Administrative expenses and restaurant operating costs 

during the Period were $9.5 million and $9.1 million for the 

same period in 2007. Administrative expenses and restaurant 

operating costs for the Year were $37.9 million and $36.8 

million for the same period in 2007. These expenses include 

compensation and administrative costs associated with the 

services provided to franchised Boston Pizza Restaurants, 

the operation of the three corporately owned restaurants, 

and development activities in established territories. 

The development and administrative expenses for Quebec 

totaled $0.9 million during the Period and $0.9 million for the 

same period in 2007. The development and administrative 

expenses for Quebec totaled $3.3 million for the Year and 

$3.4 million for the same period in 2007. 

During the Period, non-controlling interest related to royalty 

expense was $5.2 million compared to $3.8 million for the 

same period in 2007. For the Year, non-controlling interest 

related to royalty expense was $19.0 million compared to 

$15.2 million for the same period in 2007. This represents the 

royalty expense for the use of the BP Rights net of amounts 

due to BPI with respect to its interest in the Partnership. 

Other Income and Expenses

Before taking into account depreciation and amortization, 

management fees, interest on the loan from the Fund, interest 

on long-term debt, amortization of deferred gain associated 

with the sale of the BP Rights. organization restructuring 

expenses, provision for impaired long-term receivables and 

income tax, the Company had earnings of $2.8 million during 

the Period and $10.1 million for the Year. Using the same 

basis, earnings in 2007 were $3.1 million for the fourth quarter 

and $10.4 million for the year. This decrease in earnings 

compared to the same period in 2007 is primarily due to the 

weaker general economic conditions and the relatively higher 

numbers of Boston Pizza Restaurants which temporarily 

closed during to undergo renovations compared to the same 

periods one year ago. 

Depreciation and amortization was $0.6 million for the Period 

and $1.9 million for the Year compared to $0.4 million and $1.6 

million for the same periods in 2007.

2 BP Rights are the trademarks that as at July 17, 2002 were registered 
or the subject of pending applications for registration under the Trade-
Marks Act (Canada), and other trademarks and the trade names 
which are confusing with the registered or pending trademarks. The 
BP Rights purchased do not include the rights outside of Canada to 
any trademarks or trade names used by BPI or any affi liated entities 
in its business, and in particular do not include the rights outside of 
Canada to the trademarks registered or pending registration under 
the Trade-Marks Act (Canada)
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Management fees were $0.2 million during the Period and 

$0.7 million for the Year compared to $0.2 million and $0.6 

million respectively for the same periods in 2007. 

Interest expense on the $24 million loan acquired by the Fund 

at the time of initial public offering (“IPO”) was $0.5 million 

during the Period and $0.5 million for the same period in 

2007. For the Year, interest expense was $1.8 million and $1.8 

million for the same period in 2007.

Interest on long-term debt was $0.1 million during the Period 

and $0.1 million for the same period in 2007. Interest expense 

on the $5 million term loan held by the Partnership of $0.1 

million (2007 – $0.1 million) is included in this amount. For the 

Year, interest on long-term debt was $0.6 million and $0.6 

million for the same period in 2007. Interest expense on the 

$5 million term loan held by the Partnership of $0.3 million 

(2007 – $0.3 million) is included in this amount.

The amortization of the deferred gain from the IPO was 

$0.3 million during the Period and $1.3 million for the Year 

compared to $0.1 million and $0.8 million for the same periods 

in 2007. The deferred gain arose from the sale of BP Rights 

to the Fund and is amortized over 99 years, the term of the 

License and Royalty Agreement. The net deferred gain as at 

December 31, 2008 was $125.3 million (2007 – $89.6 million).

On December 9, 2008 the Company approved a plan to 

realign personnel from a regional to a functional management 

structure. The costs associated with the realignment were 

$0.6 million during the Period and the Year.

Given the combined effects of the above-noted factors, BPI 

had earnings before the sale of Units of the Fund, provision 

for impaired long-term receivables and income taxes of $1.2 

million for the Period and $5.9 million for the Year compared 

to $2.1 million and $6.6 million for the same periods in 2007. 

On March 13, 2008, BPI sold 2,945,246 Units of the Fund 

received in exchange for Class B general partner units of the 

Partnership (“Class B Units”). The proceeds from the sale of 

Units were $34.4 million, net of transaction costs of $2.1 million. 

As of December 31, 2008 there were 15,220,968 Fund units 

issued – 17,361,360 on a fully diluted basis – and BPI had a 

12.3% indirect interest in the Fund. As at February 6, 2009 there 

were 14,716,968 Units outstanding, 18,045,874 on a fully diluted 

basis and BPI held securities exchangeable for 3,329,106 Units, 

representing a 18.4% indirect interest in the Fund.

The loss on sale of units during the Period was $nil and $7.4 

million for the Year. For the same periods in 2007, the gain on 

sale of units was $nil and $1.4 million, respectively. During the 

Period, a provision for impaired long-term receivables of $7.6 

million was recorded in relation to the $18.9 million promissory 

notes from a related party included in long-term receivables. 

The value of these promissory notes has been reduced 

accordingly in the Company’s audited consolidated fi nancial 

statements for the Year. The provision has no impact on BPI’s 

ongoing operations and the Company continues to make 

every effort to collect all long-term receivable balances.

The loss before income taxes for the Period was $6.5 million 

compared to earnings before income taxes of $2.1 million in 

the same period in 2007. For the Year, the loss before income 

taxes is $9.2 million compared to earnings before income 

taxes of $8.0 million in the prior year. 

New Restaurants Added to the Royalty Pool

On January 1, 2009, 25 new Boston Pizza Restaurants 

that opened across Canada between January 1, 2008 and 

December 31, 2008 were added to the Royalty Pool and 

two restaurants that permanently closed during 2008 were 

removed from the Royalty Pool. The estimated annual 

gross franchise revenue for the 23 net new restaurants in 

2009 is $43.8 million. The estimated 4% royalty revenue 

the Fund will receive in 2009 from these additional 23 net 

new restaurants is $1.8 million. The royalty revenue for the 

purposes of calculating the Additional Entitlements, therefore, 

is $1.6 million or 92.5% of the $1.8 million. In return for adding 

the royalty revenue from these 23 net new restaurants 

to the Royalty Pool, BPI received the right to acquire an 

additional 940,085 Units, representing 80% of the Additional 

Entitlements with the balance to be received when the actual 

full year performance of the new restaurants is known with 

certainty. The 940,085 Additional Entitlements represented 

5.1% of the total outstanding Units on a fully diluted basis on 

January 1, 2009. 235,021 Units, representing the remaining 

20% of the Additional Entitlements, have been “held back” 

until such time as the actual performance of these new 

Royalty Pool restaurants for 2009 is known. BPI also receives 

an increase in monthly distributions based on 100% of the 

Additional Entitlements. The calculation for the number of 

Additional Entitlements received by BPI is designed to be 

accretive to existing Unitholders as the additional royalty 

revenues from the new restaurants are licensed to the Fund 

at a 7.5% discount. Once the actual performance of these 

new Royalty Pool restaurants for 2009 is known, the number 

of Additional Entitlements will be adjusted and the “holdback” 

released in 2010 to refl ect the actual royalty revenue received 

by the Fund in 2009. 

In January 2009 an audit of the royalty revenues of the 34 

restaurants that were added to the Royalty Pool on 

January 1, 2008 was completed. The purpose of this audit 

was to compare actual royalty revenue from these 34 

restaurants to the estimated amount of royalty revenue the 

Fund expected to receive. The original royalty revenue the 

Fund expected to receive was $2,765,760 and the actual 

royalty revenue that the Fund received was $2,576,546. As a 

result of this adjustment and distributions that were paid on the 

excess units, BPI will make a cash payment to the Partnership 

of $178,383 to reconcile distributions received by BPI for the 

difference between estimated and actual royalty revenue for 

the 34 restaurants. BPI received the right to acquire only 80% 

of the Additional Entitlements at the Adjustment Date in 2008. 

Following the audit, BPI received the right to acquire 248,629 

Additional Entitlements.

Critical Accounting Estimates 

Management believes that the following selected accounting 

policy is critical to understanding the estimates, assumptions 

and uncertainties that affect the amounts reported and 

disclosed in BPI’s consolidated fi nancial statements and related 

notes. See note 1 and 3 to BPI’s 2008 audited consolidated 

fi nancial statements for BPI’s signifi cant accounting policies.

The Company uses the asset and liability method of 

accounting for income taxes. Under the asset and liability 

method, future tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the 

future tax consequences attributable to differences between 

the fi nancial statement carrying amounts of existing assets 

and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Future tax assets 

and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively 

enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the 

years in which those temporary differences are expected to 

be recovered or settled. The effect on future tax assets and 

liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in 

the period that includes the date of enactment or substantive 

enactment. The refundable portion of taxes on investment 

income is charged to retained earnings. The recovery of 

refundable taxes previously charged to retained earnings 

is credited to retained earnings in the period it becomes 

receivable. The Company uses a best estimate approach with 

respect to the recognition and measurement of tax exposure 

items, whereby the Company records income tax expense 

for the effect of tax exposure items based on the single best 

estimate of the tax amount expected ultimately to be paid.

The determination of income taxes requires the use of 

judgment and estimates. If certain judgments or estimates 

prove to be inaccurate, or if certain tax rates or laws change, 

our results of operations and fi nancial position could be 

materially impacted. 

New Accounting Policies

During the year, the Company implemented a new stock 

option plan and as a result adopted the recommendations 

of Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) 

Handbook Section 3870, Stock-Based Compensation and 

Other Stock-Based Payments. See “Stock Option Plan”.

The Company may, from time to time, grant options to acquire 

up to 15,600,000 Class B Common shares of the Company 

(“Class B Shares”) to directors, offi cers and employees of the 

Company or its subsidiaries. The Company has granted options 

to acquire 5,840,000 Class B Shares to the Company’s offi cers 

and senior employees (the “Granted Options”). The exercise 

price of each Granted Option is equal to the fair market value 

of one Class B Share at the date on which the option was 

granted, as determined by a valuation formula approved by 

the Company’s board of directors. Each Granted Option may 

be exercised during a period not exceeding 10 years from 

the date granted. The Granted Options vest 20% per year for 

fi ve years beginning on January 1, 2009. Holders of vested 

options under the stock option plan have the choice, subject 

to certain restrictions, of exercising their options to acquire 

Class B Shares at the corresponding option exercise price, 

or receiving a cash payment from the Company equivalent to 

the difference between the fair market value of the Class B 

Shares and the exercise price of the option.

The compensation cost attributable to stock-based awards 

to employees that call for settlement in cash or other assets 

at the option of the employee is recognized in operating 

expenses over the vesting period. These awards are treated 

as liability awards and are therefore measured using the 

intrinsic value of the options rather than the fair value. Changes 

in the intrinsic value of the stock option awards between the 

grant date and the measurement date result in a change in 

measurement of the liability and compensation cost. There 

was no impact on earnings in the Period, no associated 

liability and no options have been vested at this time

The following table gives details on outstanding options as at 

December 31, 2008:

  Weighted 
 Number of average
 options exercise price 

Balance, beginning of year nil nil

Granted 5,840,000 $1.00

Exercised nil nil

Cancelled nil ni. 

Balance, end of year 5,840,000 $1.0. 

Capital disclosures:

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the 

recommendations of Canadian Institute of Chartered 

Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook Section 1535 that specifi es 

the disclosure of: (i) an entity’s objectives, policies and 

processes for managing capital; (ii) quantitative data about 
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what the entity regards as capital; (iii) whether the entity has 

complied with any established capital requirements; and, 

(iv) if it has not complied, the consequences of such non-

compliance. It is not expected that the adoption of section 

1535 will have a material impact on BPI’s fi nancial condition, 

changes in fi nancial condition or operating results.

Financial instruments:

The Company has also adopted CICA Handbook Sections 

3862 and 3863 that replace Handbook Section 3861, 

Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation, revising 

and enhancing its disclosure requirements, and carrying 

forward its presentation requirements. These new sections 

place increased emphasis on disclosures about the nature 

and extent of risks arising from fi nancial instruments and 

how the entity manages those risks. It is not expected that 

the adoption of sections 3862 and 3863 will have a material 

impact on BPI’s fi nancial condition, changes in fi nancial 

condition or operating results.

Anticipated changes to Canadian Generally 
Accepted Principles

In February 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Section 3064, 

Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which supersedes Sections 

3062 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets and 3450 Research 

and Development Costs. Section 3064 provides additional 

guidance on when expenditures qualify for recognition as 

intangible assets and requires that costs be deferred only 

when relating to an item meeting the asset defi nition. This 

new accounting standard is effective for interim and annual 

fi nancial statements relating to fi scal years beginning on or 

after October 31, 2008. The Company will adopt this standard 

for the fi scal year commencing January 1, 2009. It is not 

expected that adopting Section 3064 will have a material 

impact on the Company’s fi nancial position or results of 

operation.

In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board 

confi rmed its plan to converge with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Given the fact that the 

company is not a reporting issuer, BPI is currently examining 

the applicability of IFRS. 

Changes in Accounting Polices 

On January 1, 2008 the Company changed its accounting 

policy with respect to the recognition and measurement of tax 

exposure items. In previous periods, the Company recognized 

tax exposure items using the probable recognition criterion. 

The Company has now changed to a best estimate approach, 

whereby the Company records income tax expense for 

the effect of tax exposure items based on the single best 

estimate of the tax amount expected ultimately to be paid. 

The effect of the tax exposure item is re-measured each 

period. Management judges that the new policy is preferable 

because it results in reliable and more relevant information 

about the effects of transactions, other events and conditions 

on the Company’s fi nancial position, fi nancial performance 

and cash fl ows.

The Company has applied this change in accounting policy 

retrospectively, and the comparative statements as at 

December 31, 2007 have been restated.

The effect of the change was to reduce shareholders defi cit 

as at January 1, 2007 by $3.7 million and by $11.5 million as 

at December 31, 2007. At December 31, 2007, income taxes 

payable increased by $46,174, long term income taxes 

payable decreased by $12.6 million and future income tax 

assets decreased by $1.1 million.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting 

There have been no signifi cant changes in our internal control 

over fi nancial reporting in fi scal 2008 that have materially 

affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our 

internal control over fi nancial reporting except as noted 

below.

As a part of management’s plan to continuously improving 

internal systems, management implemented a data 

warehouse system in the fourth quarter to enhance existing 

reporting systems. This implementation included new controls 

which were tested as part of management assessment of 

the effectiveness of internal controls over fi nancial reporting 

performed as of December 31, 2008.

Liquidity & Capital Resources

The Partnership has a $1 million revolving operating line of 

credit with a 364-day term to allow for any seasonal variations 

that could result in mismatches between royalty revenue 

infl ows and distributions to Unitholders of the Fund. Since 

inception in July, 2002, the line of credit has been maintained 

with a nil balance.

BPI is an entirely franchised business except for three 

corporate restaurants. For 2009, BPI has forecasted capital 

requirements of approximately $1.4 million which will consist 

mainly of the purchase of offi ce and computer equipment for 

the expansion of the corporate offi ce and the development 

of software applications. Given the debt repayment and 

commitments schedule below, the Company is certain it 

has suffi cient cash to cover expenditures, commitments and 

repayments for 2009. . 

BPI has an available line of credit in the amount of $7.5 million 

with a 180 day term to cover the Company’s day-to-day 

operating requirements through normal seasonal variations 

in the business if needed. The line of credit bears interest at 

the bank prime rate and is due upon demand. Since obtaining 

the line of credi. in November 2007, the line of credit has been 

maintained with a nil balance. 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

The Company used $3.0 million on operating activities during 

the Year which is mainly due to the scheduled repayment of 

other long-term liabilities, the increase to other assets and 

the increase to prepaid expenses.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

The Company used $26.1 million from fi nancing activities 

during the Year mainly to pay out $26.4 million in dividends. 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

The Company sold 2,945,246 Units of the Fund received in 

exchange for Class B Units. The net proceeds from the sale 

of Units were $34.4 million. The Company also purchased 

capital assets of $1.9 million during the year.

Long-Term Debt Obligations

The Partnership has a $5 million non-revolving term loan 

facility, with a maturity date of September 22, 2012, used to 

partially fi nance the purchase of the BP Rights from BPI and 

to provide term debt as part of the capital structure. As at 

December 31, 2008 the facility was fully drawn. 

The Partnership has a revolving term loan in the amount of up 

to $20 million available at variable and fi xed rates as selected 

by the Partnership to fund purchases under the Fund’s Normal 

Course Issuer Bid announced on September 22, 2008. This loan 

bears interest at the bank’s prime rate plus 0.50% per annum 

or variable interest rates as determined by the Partnership 

and has a maturity date of September 22, 2012. This loan is 

secured by a fi rst charge over the assets of the Partnership 

and is guaranteed by the Fund and its other subsidiaries, 

some of whom have also granted security for their obligations 

under those guarantees. The key covenants for this loan are 

the same as the covenants established for the Partnership’s 

current operating and term loans. As at December 31, 2008, 

$3.9 million had been advanced on this loan.

BPI’s long-term debt obligations also include equipment 

fi nancing that are secured by specifi c assets of the Company. 

These term loans are secured by a general assignment of 

book debts and certain guarantees from the Company, 

shareholders and related companies. 

Principal repayments on BPI’s long-term debt and capital 

lease obligations, excluding the Partnership’s $5 million 

and $20 million term loans, for the next fi ve years ending 

December 31 are as follows:

Long-Term Debt:

2009 $ 539,100

2010  531,157

2011  377,640

2012  409,261

2013 and thereafter  288,077

 $ 2,145,235

Other Long-Term Commitments

BPI has long term commitments under operating lease 

contracts for offi ce space, restaurant space and advertising 

contracts. The minimum annual payments under these 

contracts for the next fi ve years ending December 31 are as 

follows:

2009 $ 1,988,614

2010  1,924,418

2011  1,539,755

2012  1,095,478

2013 and thereafter  762,122

Stock Option Plan

The Company established a stock option plan during the third 

quarter of the Year pursuant to which the Company may, from 

time to time, grant options to acquire up to 15,600,000 Class 

B Shares to directors, offi cers and employees of the Company 

or its subsidiaries. The Company has granted options to 

acquire 5,840,000 Class B Shares to the Company’s offi cers 

and senior employees. The exercise price of each Granted 

Option is equal to the fair market value of one Class B Share 

at the date on which the option was granted, as determined 

by a valuation formula approved by the Company’s board of 

directors. Each Granted Option may be exercised during a 

period not exceeding 10 years from the date granted. The 

Granted Options vest 20% per year for fi ve years beginning 

on January 1, 2009. Holders of vested options under the stock 

option plan have the choice, subject to certain restrictions, 

of exercising their options to acquire Class B Shares at the 

corresponding option exercise price, or receiving a cash 

payment from the Company equivalent to the difference 

between the fair market value of the Class B Shares on the 

date of exercise and the exercise price of the option.
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Outlook

The information contained in “Outlook” is forward-looking 

information. Please see “Note Regarding Forward-Looking 

Information” for a discussion of the risks and uncertainties in 

connection with forward-looking information.

Boston Pizza is well positioned for future expansion and should 

continue to strengthen its position as the number one casual 

dining brand in Canada. In 2009, management of BPI anticipates 

that approximately 15 to 25 new locations will open across 

Canada. Due to the weaker general economic conditions, 

BPI management believes that the pace of commercial real 

estate development will decelerate and access to fi nancing 

will be restricted. These factors may have a negative effect 

on the opening of new Boston Pizza Restaurants in 2009. 

Management will continue to pursue further development 

in Western Canada, while the majority of new locations are 

expected to be in Eastern Canada and Quebec. 

SSSG in 2009 will be driven by the new television advertising 

campaign, a larger national marketing budget and an updated 

menu. In addition, Boston Pizza anticipates that 20 to 30 

restaurants will complete renovations this year. The prevailing 

weaker economic conditions are expected to have an impact 

on sales at Boston Pizza Restaurants and BPI management 

is not expecting a signifi cant improvement in economic 

conditions in the near-term. 

Risks & Uncertainties

Risks Related to the Casual Dining Restaurant Industry

The Restaurant Industry and its Competitive Nature

The performance of the Fund is directly dependent upon the 

royalty and interest payments received from BPI. The amount 

of royalty received from BPI is dependent on various factors 

that may affect the casual dining sector of the restaurant 

industry. The restaurant industry generally, and in particular 

the casual dining sector, is intensely competitive with respect 

to price, service, location and food quality. Competitors 

include national and regional chains, as well as independently 

owned restaurants. If BPI and the Boston Pizza franchisees 

are unable to successfully compete in the casual dining 

sector, Franchise Sales may be adversely affected; the 

amount of royalty reduced and the ability of BPI to pay the 

royalty or interest on the loan to BPI in the aggregate amount 

of $24.0 million held by the Fund (the “BP Loan”) may be 

impaired. The restaurant industry is also affected by changes 

in demographic trends, traffi c patterns, and the type, number, 

and location of competing restaurants. In addition, factors 

such as government regulations, smoking bylaws, infl ation, 

publicity from any food borne illnesses, increased food, 

labour and benefi ts costs, and the availability of experienced 

management and hourly employees may adversely affect 

the restaurant industry in general and therefore potentially 

Boston Pizza Franchise Sales. BPI’s success also depends on 

numerous factors affecting discretionary consumer spending, 

including economic conditions, disposable consumer income 

and consumer confi dence. Adverse changes in these factors 

could reduce guest traffi c or impose practical limits on pricing, 

either of which could reduce revenue and operating income, 

which could adversely affect Franchise Sales, the royalty 

and the ability of BPI to pay the royalty to the Partnership or 

interest on the BP Loan to the Fund.

Growth of the Royalty

The growth of the royalty payable to the Partnership by BPI (the 

“Royalty”) is dependent upon the ability of BPI to (i) maintain 

and grow its franchised restaurants, (ii) locate new restaurant 

sites in prime locations; and (iii) obtain qualifi ed operators to 

become Boston Pizza franchisees. BPI faces competition for 

restaurant locations and franchisees from its competitors 

and from franchisors of other businesses. BPI’s inability to 

successfully obtain qualifi ed franchisees could adversely 

affect its business development. The opening and success 

of Boston Pizza Restaurants is dependent on a number of 

factors, including: availability of suitable sites; negotiations 

of acceptable lease or purchase terms for new locations; 

availability, training and retention of management and other 

employees necessary to staff new Boston Pizza Restaurants; 

adequately supervising construction; securing suitable 

fi nancing; and other factors, some of which are beyond the 

control of BPI. Boston Pizza franchisees may not have all the 

business abilities or access to fi nancial resources necessary 

to open a Boston Pizza Restaurant or to successfully develop 

or operate a Boston Pizza Restaurant in their franchise areas 

in a manner consistent with BPI’s standards.

 BPI provides training and support to Boston Pizza franchisees, 

but the quality of franchised operations may be diminished by 

any number of factors beyond BPI’s control. Consequently, 

Boston Pizza franchisees may not successfully operate 

restaurants in a manner consistent with BPI’s standards and 

requirements, or may not hire and train qualifi ed managers 

and other restaurant personnel. If they do not, the image and 

reputation of BPI may suffer, and gross revenue and results of 

operations of the Boston Pizza Restaurants could decline.

The Closure of Boston Pizza Restaurants May Affect 
the Amount of the Royalty

The amount of the Royalty payable to the Partnership by BPI 

is dependent upon Franchise Sales which is dependent, for its 

stability, on the number of Boston Pizza Restaurants that are 

included in the Royalty Pool and the Franchise Sales of those 

Boston Pizza Restaurants. Each year, a number of Boston 
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Pizza Restaurants may close, there is no assurance that BPI 

will be able to open suffi cient new Boston Pizza Restaurants to 

replace the Franchise Sales of the Boston Pizza Restaurants 

that have closed.

Revenue from Franchisees

The ability of BPI to pay the Royalty is dependent, in part, 

on Boston Pizza franchisees’ ability to generate revenue and 

to pay royalties to BPI. Failure of BPI to achieve adequate 

levels of collection from Boston Pizza franchisees could have 

a serious effect on the ability of BPI to pay the Royalty.

Intellectual Property

The ability of BPI to maintain or increase its Franchise Sales 

will depend on its ability to maintain “brand equity” through 

the use of the BP Rights licensed from the Partnership. If the 

Partnership fails to enforce or maintain any of its intellectual 

property rights, BPI may be unable to capitalize on its 

efforts to establish brand equity. All registered trade marks 

in Canada can be challenged pursuant to provisions of the 

Trade-marks Act (Canada) and if any BP Rights are ever 

successfully challenged, this may have an adverse impact on 

Franchise Sales and therefore on the Royalty. The Partnership 

will own the BP Rights in Canada. However it will not own 

identical or similar trade marks owned by parties not related 

to BPI or the Partnership in other jurisdictions. Third parties 

may use such trade marks in jurisdictions other than Canada 

in a manner that diminishes the value of such trade marks. 

If this occurs, the value of the BP Rights may suffer and 

gross revenue by Boston Pizza Restaurants could decline. 

Similarly, negative publicity or events associated with such 

trade marks in jurisdictions outside of Canada may negatively 

effect the image and reputation of Boston Pizza Restaurants 

in Canada, resulting in a decline in gross revenue by Boston 

Pizza Restaurants.

Government Regulation

BPI is subject to various federal, provincial and local laws 

affecting its business. Each Boston Pizza Restaurant is subject 

to licensing and regulation by a number of governmental 

authorities, which may include alcoholic beverage control, 

smoking laws, health and safety and fi re agencies. Diffi culties 

in obtaining or failures to obtain the required licenses or 

approvals could delay or prevent the development of a new 

Boston Pizza Restaurant in a particular area or limit the 

operations of an existing Boston Pizza Restaurant.

Regulations Governing Alcoholic Beverages

The ability of Boston Pizza Restaurants to serve alcoholic 

beverages is an important factor in attracting customers. 

Alcoholic beverage control regulations require each 

Boston Pizza Restaurant to apply to provincial or municipal 

authorities, for a license or permit to sell alcoholic beverages 

on the premises and, in certain locations, to provide service 

for extended hours and on Sundays.

Typically, licenses must be renewed annually and may be 

revoked or suspended for cause at any time. Alcoholic 

beverage control regulations relate to numerous aspects 

of daily operations of Boston Pizza Restaurants, including 

minimum age of patrons and employees, hours of operation, 

advertising, wholesale purchasing, inventory control, and 

handling, storage and dispensing of alcoholic beverages. The 

failure of BPI or a Boston Pizza franchisee to retain a license 

to serve liquor for a Boston Pizza Restaurant would adversely 

affect that restaurant’s operations. BPI or a Boston Pizza 

franchisee may be subject to legislation in certain provinces, 

which may provide a person injured by an intoxicated person 

the right to recover damages from an establishment that 

wrongfully served alcoholic beverages to the intoxicated 

person. BPI carries host liquor liability coverage as part of its 

existing comprehensive general liability insurance.

Laws Concerning Employees

The operations of Boston Pizza Restaurants are also subject 

to minimum wage laws governing such matters as working 

conditions, overtime and tip credits. Signifi cant numbers 

of Boston Pizza Restaurants’ food service and preparation 

personnel are paid at rates related to the minimum wage and, 

accordingly, further increases in the minimum wage could 

increase Boston Pizza Restaurants’ labour costs.

Potential Litigation and Other Complaints

BPI and Boston Pizza franchisees may be the subject of 

complaints or litigation from guests alleging food related 

illness, injuries suffered on the premises or other food quality, 

health or operational concerns. Adverse publicity resulting 

from such allegations may materially affect the sales by Boston 

Pizza Restaurants, regardless of whether such allegations are 

true or whether BPI or a Boston Pizza franchisee is ultimately 

held liable.

For a more detailed list of risks and uncertainties related to 

BPI and the Fund, please refer to the Fund’s Management’s 

Discussion and Analysis for the twelve month period ended 

December 31, 2008 which is available on SEDAR at www.

sedar.com.

Additional Information

Additional Information relating to BPI, the Partnership and 

the Fund is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, including 

the Fund’s Annual Information Form for the fi scal year-ended 

December 31, 2008.
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Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information

Certain information in this Management’s Discussion and 

Analysis may constitute “forward-looking information” that 

involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties, future 

expectations and other factors which may cause the actual 

results, performance or achievements of the Fund, the Trust, 

the Partnership, Holdings LP, BPI, Boston Pizza Restaurants, 

or industry results, to be materially different from any future 

results, performance or achievements expressed or implied 

by such forward-looking information. When used in this 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis, this information may 

include words such as “anticipate”, “estimate”, “may”, “will”, 

“expect”, “believe”, “plan” and other similar terminology. This 

information refl ects current expectations regarding future 

events and operating performance and speaks only as of 

the date of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

This forward-looking information involves a number of risks, 

uncertainties and future expectations including, but not limited 

to: competition; changes in demographic trends; changes in 

consumer preferences and discretionary spending patterns; 

changes in national and local business and economic 

conditions; legislation and government regulation; accounting 

policies and practices; and the results of operations and 

fi nancial conditions of BPI and the Fund. The foregoing list 

of factors is not exhaustive and should be considered in 

conjunction with the risks and uncertainties set out above 

in “Risks & Uncertainties”. This Management’s Discussion 

and Analysis discusses some of the factors that could cause 

actual results to differ materially from those expressed in or 

underlying such forward-looking information. Forward-looking 

information is provided as of the date hereof and, except 

as required by law, we assume no obligation to update or 

revise forward-looking information to refl ect new events or 

circumstances.
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Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Boston Pizza International Inc. as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and 

the consolidated statements of earnings (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), accumulated defi cit and cash fl ows for the 

years then ended.  These fi nancial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to 

express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require 

that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the fi nancial statements are free of material 

misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial 

statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signifi cant estimates made by management, 

as well as evaluating the overall fi nancial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated fi nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the fi nancial position of the 

Company as at December 31, 2008 and 2007, the results of its operations and its cash fl ows for the years then ended in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants

Vancouver, Canada

January 27, 2009



 C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  4 4  B O S T O N  P I Z Z A  I N T E R N A T I O N A L  I N C . 

BOSTON PIZZA INTERNATIONAL INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2008 and 2007

    2008   2007
      (restated - change in
      accounting policy
      - note 4) 

Assets

Current assets:

 Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,986,139  $ 3,943,863

 Accounts receivable (note 22)  8,850,834   9,087,674

 Prepaid expenses  1,533,724   628,901

 Advertising fund restricted assets   2,880,659   3,706,423

 Future income taxes (note 16)  603,677   186,630

    16,855,033   17,553,491 

Long-term receivables (note 7)  20,077,862   26,213,561

Long-term investments (note 8)  75,476   75,476

Capital assets (note 9)  8,445,957   8,433,229

Other assets (note 10)  1,355,985   323,624

Future income taxes (note 16)  31,633,682   20,791,208

   $ 78,443,995  $ 73,390,589

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Deficiency

Current liabilities:

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 22) $ 7,774,154  $ 7,124,369

 Distributions payable  1,600,617   1,316,361

 Income tax payable  699,936   981,031

 Current portion of deferred revenue  2,363,766   2,493,308

 Current portion of long-term debt (note 13)  539,100   1,063,239

 Promissory note payable (note 14)  6,253,475   2,976,678

 Advertising fund restricted liabilities   2,880,659   3,706,423

    22,111,707   19,661,409

Long-term debt (note 13)  10,480,568   6,793,401

Deferred revenue  4,090,734   4,626,937

Loan from Boston Pizza Royalties Income Fund (note 14)  24,000,000   24,000,000

Other long-term liabilities (note 15)  796,746   2,044,269

Deferred gain (note 6)  125,273,687   89,555,005

Shareholders’ defi ciency:

 Share capital (note 17)  100   100

 Defi cit  (108,309,547 )  (73,290,532 )

    (108,309,447 )  (73,290,432 )

Commitments (note 18)

Contingency (note 21)

Subsequent events (note 26)     

   $ 78,443,995  $ 73,390,589

See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements.

Approved on behalf of the Board:

George Melville, Director   James Treliving, Director
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BOSTON PIZZA INTERNATIONAL INC.

Consolidated Statements of Earnings (Loss) 
and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007

    2008   2007
      (restated - change in
      accounting policy
      - note 4) 

Franchise, restaurant – established territories and other revenues (note 22) $ 67,116,889  $ 63,232,705

Franchise, restaurant – developing territories (Quebec)    3,216,482   2,601,653

    70,333,371   65,834,358

Administrative expenses, expenses of established territories 
 and restaurant operating costs (note 22)  37,879,806   36,843,484

Development and administrative expenses – Quebec   3,296,272   3,385,376

Non-controlling interest related to royalty expense  19,035,769   15,231,904

Earnings before undernoted  10,121,524   10,373,594

Depreciation and amortization  1,902,891   1,641,533

Management fee (note 22)  664,894   638,995

Interest on loan from Boston Pizza Royalties Income Fund (note 22)  1,800,000   1,800,000

Interest on long-term debt  577,928   560,106

Amortization of deferred gain (note 6)  (1,345,673 )  (838,843 )

Organization restructuring expenses  626,148   —

Earnings (loss) before undernoted items  5,895,336   6,571,803

Gain (loss) on sale of Fund units  (7,431,410 )  1,406,504

Provision for impaired long term receivables  (7,615,215 )  —

Earnings (loss) before income taxes  (9,151,289 )  7,978,307

Income tax expense (recovery) (note 16):

 Current  4,627,247   3,699,616

 Future  (5,690,337 )  (2,136,033 )

    (1,063,090 )  1,563,583

Net earnings (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) $ (8,088,199 ) $ 6,414,724

See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements.
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BOSTON PIZZA INTERNATIONAL INC.

Consolidated Statement of Accumulated Deficit
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
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BOSTON PIZZA INTERNATIONAL INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007

    2008   2007
      (restated - change in
      accounting policy
      - note 4) 

Accumulated defi cit, beginning of year $ (73,290,532 ) $ (58,776,488 )

Net earnings (loss)  (8,088,199 )  6,414,724

Dividends declared  (32,500,000 )  (24,250,000 )

Refundable dividend tax  5,569,184   3,321,232

Accumulated defi cit, end of year $ (108,309,547 ) $ (73,290,532 )

See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements.

    2008   2007

Cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in):

Operating:

Net earnings (loss) $ (8,088,199 ) $ 6,414,724

Items not affecting cash:

 Depreciation and amortization  1,902,891   1,641,533

 Future income taxes  (5,690,337 )  (2,136,033 )

 Amortization of deferred gain  (1,345,673 )  (838,843 )

 Loss (gain) on sale of Fund units  7,431,410   (1,406,504 )

 Non-controlling interest related to royalty expense  19,035,769   15,231,904

 Distributions to non-controlling interest  (19,097,060 )  (15,002,323 )

 Long-term receivables  6,135,699   (1,609,329 )

Change in non-cash operating items (note 25(a))  (3,328,814 )  (4,733,141 )

    (3,044,314 )  (828,683 )

Financing:

 Repayment of long-term debt  (1,063,623 )  (766,002 )

 Proceeds from long-term debt  4,226,651   97,847

 Payment of promissory note  (2,813,203 )  —

 Payment of dividends  (26,410,000 )  (21,273,322 )

    (26,060,175 )  (21,941,477 )

Investing:

 Proportionate increase in ownership of Boston Pizza Royalties Limited Partnership  (4,292,312 )  —

 Sale of Fund Units, net of transaction costs  34,354,071   26,523,837

 Purchase of capital assets, net  (1,914,994 )  (3,091,750 )

    28,146,765   21,822,758

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (957,724 )  (947,402 )

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  3,943,863   4,891,265

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 2,986,139  $ 3,943,863

See supplementary cash fl ow information (note 25(b)).

See accompanying notes to consolidated fi nancial statements.
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BOSTON PIZZA INTERNATIONAL INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
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1. Nature of operations:

Boston Pizza International Inc. (the “Company”) was 

incorporated on May 26, 1982 under the laws of British 

Columbia and continued under the Canada Business 

Corporations Act on August 26, 2002. Its principal business 

activity is the operation and franchising of Boston Pizza 

Restaurants in Canada. The Company initially focused on the 

growth of its business in Western Canada and is currently in 

the process of developing its Eastern Canada market.

2. Basis of presentation:

These consolidated fi nancial statements have been prepared 

in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 

principles, and include the accounts of the following entities, 

after elimination of all material intercompany balances and 

transactions:

Boston Pizza International Inc. and subsidiaries: 

 Lansdowne Holdings Ltd. 100.00%

 Winston Churchill Pizza Ltd. 100.00%

 Laval Corporate Training Centre Inc. 100.00%

 Boston Pizza Royalties Limited Partnership 12.30%

In June 2003, the CICA issued Accounting Guideline 15, 

“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“AcG-15”), 

requiring the consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIEs”) 

by the primary benefi ciary of the expected residual returns or 

losses or both of the VIE. A VIE is any type of legal structure 

in which consolidation is required due to contractual or other 

fi nancial arrangements, as opposed to traditional voting 

rights, if certain conditions exist. AcG-15 became effective for 

the Company on January 1, 2005 with retroactive application 

to its comparative results for the prior year.

Boston Pizza Royalties Limited Partnership (the “Partnership”) 

is considered to be a VIE and the Company is the primary 

benefi ciary of the Partnership, accordingly the Company now 

consolidates the Partnership. Previously, the Partnership was 

consolidated by Boston Pizza Royalties Income Fund (the 

“Fund”) based on its voting rights and the Company accounted 

for its investment in the Partnership on an equity basis. The 

Partnership was established to hold the trademarks and 

trade names used in connection with the operation of Boston 

Pizza Restaurants in Canada (collectively, the “BP Rights”). 

The Partnership and the Company also entered into a license 

and royalty agreement to allow the Company the use of the 

BP Rights for a term of 99 years, for which the Company pays 

the Partnership 4% of the Franchise Revenues (as defi ned) of 

certain restaurants located in Canada (the “Royalty Pool”).

3.  New accounting policies:

(a) Stock Options:

During the year, the Company implemented a new stock 

option plan which is disclosed in note 19, and as a result 

adopted the recommendations of Canadian Institute 

of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook Section 

3870, Stock-Based Compensation and Other Stock-

Based Payments.

(b) Capital disclosures:

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the 

recommendations of Canadian Institute of Chartered 

Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook Section 1535 that 

specifi es the disclosure of: (i) an entity’s objectives, 

policies and processes for managing capital; (ii) 

quantitative data about what the entity regards as capital; 

(iii) whether the entity has complied with any established 

capital requirements; and, (iv) if it has not complied, the 

consequences of such non-compliance.

(c) Financial instruments:

The Company has also adopted CICA Handbook Sections 

3862 and 3863 that replace Handbook Section 3861, 

Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation, 

revising and enhancing its disclosure requirements, and 

carrying forward its presentation requirements. These 

new sections place increased emphasis on disclosures 

about the nature and extent of risks arising from fi nancial 

instruments and how the entity manages those risks.

4. Changes in accounting policies:

(a) Income taxes:

On January 1, 2008 the Company changed its 

accounting policy with respect to the recognition 

and measurement of tax exposure items. In previous 

periods, the Company recognized tax exposure items 

using the probable recognition criterion. The Company 

has now changed to a best estimate approach, whereby 

the Company records income tax expense for the 

effect of tax exposure items based on the single best 

estimate of the tax amount expected ultimately to be 

paid. The effect of the tax exposure item is re-measured 

each period. Management judges that the new policy 

is preferable because it results in reliable and more 

relevant information about the effects of transactions, 

other events and conditions on the Company’s fi nancial 

position, fi nancial performance and cash fl ows.

The Company has applied this change in accounting 

policy retrospectively, and the comparative statements 

as at December 31, 2007 have been restated.

The effect of the change was to reduce shareholders 

defi cit as at January 1, 2007 by $3,687,077 and by 

$11,505,131 as at December 31, 2007. At December 31, 

2007, income taxes payable increased by $46,174, long 

term income taxes payable decreased by $12,629,512, 

and future income tax assets decreased by $1,079,207.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2007, net 

income increased from the amount previously reported 

by $4,496,822 due to a decrease in income tax expense 

of $3,434,300 and a decrease in administrative expenses 

of $1,062,522. The refundable dividend tax credited to 

retained earnings also increased by $3,321,232 for the 

twelve months ended December 31, 2007; as a result the 

shareholders defi cit as at December 31, 2007 decreased by 

$11,505,131 compared to the amount previously reported.

5. Significant accounting policies:

(a) Capital assets:

Capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated 

depreciation.

(b) Depreciation and amortization:

The Company provides for depreciation of capital assets 

over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Asset  Basis Rate

Building Declining balance 4%

Offi ce furniture 
 and equipment Declining balance 10-50%

Offi ce furniture and
 equipment under Straight-line at
 capital lease various rates  up to 7 years

Leasehold 
 improvements Straight-line  shorter of term of
    the lease or 
   useful life

c) Revenue recognition and deferred revenue:

(i) Franchise revenues:

Area franchise fees:

Area franchise fee deposits are deferred until the agreed 

number of franchisee-owned restaurants is opened. The 

area franchise fee is expected to match costs incurred 

by the Company during the pre-opening period and is 

amortized into income as restaurants are opened. In 

the event that the required number of restaurants is not 

opened during the specifi ed time period, the deposit 

becomes non-refundable and is recognized as income.

Monthly franchise fee:

Monthly franchise fees are recorded as they are earned, 

net of any allowance for doubtful accounts.

 

Franchise fee deposits:

Franchise fee deposits are deferred and presented net 

of expenses incurred relating to the sale of the franchise. 

When the franchise commences operations, the 

franchise deposits are recorded as franchise revenue 

and the related costs are included as an expense. 

(ii) Restaurant revenues:

Revenue from corporately owned restaurant operations 

is recorded when services are rendered.

(iii) Supplier contributions:

The Company receives supplier contributions from 

franchisee suppliers to be used for various franchise 

activities. Supplier contributions are recorded as they 

are earned.

(d) Established and developing territories:

The Company develops a territorial business plan 

when establishing new markets, but initially requires 

an infrastructure that will identify appropriate locations, 

attract franchise candidates and develop operating 

procedures applicable to the new territory.

As part of the business plan, the Company estimates 

the minimum number of franchise locations required 

to be opened that would generate suffi cient franchise 

revenues to meet the incremental costs of operating 

the new territory. The revenues and costs of developing 

territories are separately presented in the fi nancial 

statements until the minimum number of franchise 

locations have been opened, at which time the costs 

of operating the territory are included in administrative 

expenses - established territories.

(e) Income taxes:

The Company uses the asset and liability method of 

accounting for income taxes. Under the asset and 

liability method, future tax assets and liabilities are 

recognized for the future tax consequences attributable 

to differences between the fi nancial statement carrying 

amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 

respective tax bases. Future tax assets and liabilities are 

measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax 

rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in 

which those temporary differences are expected to be 

recovered or settled. The effect on future tax assets and 

liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income 

in the period that includes the date of enactment or 

substantive enactment. The refundable portion of taxes 

on investment income is charged to retained earnings. 

The recovery of refundable taxes previously charged 

to retained earnings is credited to retained earnings in 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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the period it becomes receivable. The Company uses a 

best estimate approach with respect to the recognition 

and measurement of tax exposure items, whereby the 

Company records income tax expense for the effect of 

tax exposure items based on the single best estimate of 

the tax amount expected ultimately to be paid.

(f) Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents, consists of cash on hand, 

balances with banks, and short-term investments with 

an initial term of three months or less.

(g) Use of estimates:

The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity 

with generally accepted accounting principles requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that 

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 

of the fi nancial statements and the reported amounts 

of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 

Signifi cant areas requiring the use of management 

estimates include the valuation of accounts receivable 

and long-term receivables, capital assets, future income 

tax benefi ts, deferred revenue and estimated income 

taxes payable.

(h) Goodwill:

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price 

over the fair value of net assets acquired. On an ongoing 

basis, management reviews the valuation of goodwill, 

taking into consideration any events and circumstances 

which might have impaired its carrying value (note 10).

(i) Tenant inducements:

Tenant inducements received either in the form of cash 

or rent free periods are deferred and amortized as a 

reduction in rent over the period of the lease term.

(j) Transaction costs:

The Company’s policy for transaction costs for fi nancial 

liabilities of less than fi ve years duration is to expense the 

costs as they are incurred. 

(k) Deferred gain:

The gain realized on sale of the BP Rights is being 

deferred and amortized over the 99 year term of the 

license and royalty agreement (note 6).

(l) Long-term investments:

The investments in BP Limited Partnership Holdings 

Inc., BP International Rights Holdings Inc. and Boston 

Pizza GP Inc. (BP GP) are accounted for using the cost 

method. Under this method, the investment is initially 

recorded at cost and earnings from such investments 

are recognized only to the extent received or receivable.

(m) Financial instruments:

This section gives an overview of the signifi cance of 

fi nancial instruments for the Company and provides 

additional information on balance sheet items that 

contain fi nancial instruments.

The Company classifi ed its fi nancial instruments as 

follows:

• Cash and cash equivalents as held-for-trading, which 

 are measured at fair value.

• Accounts receivables, long-term receivables and 

promissory notes are loans and receivables, which 

are measured at amortized cost.

• Accounts payable, accrued liabilities, distributions 

payable, long-term debt, notes payable, and 

promissory note payable are classifi ed as 

other fi nancial liabilities, which are measured at 

amortized cost. 

• The right to transfer Class C general partner units in 

consideration of its note payable to the Fund is 

classifi ed as a derivative instrument. The Company 

has reviewed the net impact of this potential 

exchange requirement on its cash fl ows and has 

determined there is no signifi cant value applicable 

to this feature.

The following table presents the carrying amounts of each 

category of fi nancial assets and liabilities:      

   2008   2007

Financial assets:

Held-for-trading 
 fi nancial assets $ 2,986,139  $ 3,943,863

Loans and receivables  28,928,696   35,301,235

  $ 31,914,835  $ 39,245,098

Financial liabilities:

Financial liabilities measured 
 at amortized cost $ 50,647,914  $ 43,296,011

The fair values of accounts receivable, accounts payable, 

accrued liabilities, distributions payable, and borrowings 

under revolving credit facilities approximate their carrying 

amount largely due to the short-term maturities of these 

instruments.

(n) Financial risk management:

The Company primarily has exposure to interest rate 

risk, liquidity risk and credit risk as they relate to the 

Company’s identifi ed fi nancial instruments.

 (i) Interest rate risk:

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is minimal. 

Most obligations, such as the interest-bearing note 

payable to the Fund, have a fi xed interest rate and 

therefore the Company does not perform interest 

rate risk management to minimize the overall fi nancial 

interest rate risk. The Company currently has $9,902,165 

in fl oating rate debt. The quarterly impact for every 1% 

increase in the prime rate would be $24,755 of additional 

interest expense. The fair value of the Company’s fi xed 

rate debt is $9,522,107. The impact of a 1% increase in 

the prime rate would result in a decrease in the fair value 

of $237,307.

 (ii) Liquidity risk:

Liquidity risk results from the Company’s potential inability 

to meet its fi nancial obligations. The Company constantly 

monitors its operations and cash fl ows to ensure that 

current and future obligations will be met. The Company 

believes that its current sources of liquidity are suffi cient 

to cover its currently known short and long term cash 

obligations.

The Company’s capital resources are comprised of 

cash and cash equivalents and cash fl ow from operating 

activities. The maturities of the Company’s fi nancial 

liabilities are as follows:

   Value   Maturity

Accounts payable and      
 accrued liabilities  7,774,154  Less than 1 year

Current portion of long-term debt 539,100  Less than 1 year

Promissory note payable   6,253,475  Less than 1 year

Long-term debt  10,480,568  2010-2015

Notes payable  24,000,000  2042

(iii) Credit risk:

Credit risk is defi ned as the risk of fi nancial loss to the 

Company if a counterparty to a fi nancial instrument fails 

to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally 

from the Company’s accounts receivable and long-term 

receivables from companies under common control. 

The effective monitoring and controlling of credit risk 

is a core competency of the Company. Each potential 

franchisee must complete a thorough interview process 

and pass mandatory credit evaluations. The collectability 

of the long-term receivables depends on the operations 

of U.S. franchisees, and management closely monitors 

the U.S. operations to manage this credit risk exposure. 

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the 

value of its accounts receivable of $8,850,834, as well 

as the value of long-term receivables from companies 

under common control of $20,077,862. Management 

performed an impairment analysis on the long- term 

receivables and recorded a provision of $7,615,215. The 

Company continues to make every effort to collect all 

long-term receivable balances.

The amount of past-due accounts receivable is 

$1,759,988. A provision for impaired accounts receivable 

of $325,000 has been recorded. The Company continues 

to make every effort to collect all past due amounts.

 (o) Capital disclosures:

The Company’s objectives in managing its liquidity and 

capital are:

• To safeguard the companies ability to continue as a 

 going concern

• Provide fi nancial capacity and fl exibility to meet its 

 strategic objectives

• To provide an adequate return to shareholders 

 commensurate with the level of risk

• Return excess cash through dividends

   2008   2007

Liquidity:     

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,986,139  $ 3,943,863

Undrawn credit facilities  23,625,567   7,500,000

Total liquidity  26,611,706   11,443,863

Capitalization:

Unsecured notes  6,253,475   2,976,678

Long-term debt  11,019,668   7,856,640

Total debt  17,273,143   10,833,318

Deferred gain  125,273,687   89,555,005

Shareholder’s 
 defi ciency  (108,309,547 )  (73,290,532 )

The Company manages its capital mainly through the periodic 

sales of Boston Pizza Royalties Limited Partnership units as 

well as through the use of long-term debt. The Company 

maintains formal policies to manage capital. Liquidity and 

capital structure are managed by adjusting for changes 

to economic conditions, understanding the underlying 

risks inherent in its operations and managing the capital 

requirements to maintain and grow its operations.

The Company is not subject to any statutory capital 

requirements and has no commitments to sell or otherwise 

issue common shares.
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The Company’s undrawn credit facility includes a $7.5 million 

unsecured line of credit which is subject to certain fi nancial 

covenants.

The Partnership has a $20 million term loan of which 

$16,125,567 is undrawn at December 31, 2008.

6. Deferred gain:         

   2008   2007

Balance, beginning of year $ 89,555,005  $ 67,064,806

Value of fund units received 
 on exchange of
 Partnership units  41,785,471   25,117,333

Long-term incentive 
 plan (note 15)  (428,804 )  (1,788,291 )

Amortization of deferred gain  (1,345,673 )  (838,843 )

Proportionate increase in 
 ownership of Boston 
 Pizza Royalties Limited 
 Partnership  (4,292,312 )  —

Balance, end of year $ 125,273,687  $ 89,555,005

Annually, on January 1, the Boston Pizza Restaurants in the 

Royalty Pool on which the Company pays a royalty to the 

Fund are adjusted to include the adjusted franchise revenue 

from new Boston Pizza Restaurants opened on or before 

December 31 of the prior year, less franchise revenue from 

any Boston Pizza Restaurants that have permanently closed 

during the year. In return for adding this net franchise revenue 

to the Royalty Pool, Boston Pizza receives the right to indirectly 

acquire additional Fund units (the “Additional Entitlement”). 

The Additional Entitlement is calculated as 92.5% of the 

royalty revenue added to the Royalty Pool, divided by the 

yield of the Fund Units. 

The Company receives 80% of the Additional Entitlement 

initially, with the balance received when the actual full year 

performance of the new restaurants is known with certainty. 

Monthly distributions from the Fund are based on full Additional 

Entitlement, subject to adjustment on January 1 of the next 

fi scal year when full year performance of the new restaurants 

is known with certainty.

On January 1, 2008, 34 (2007 – net 40) new Boston Pizza 

Restaurants that opened during the period from January 1, 2007 

to December 31, 2007 (2007 – January 1, 2006 to December 

31, 2006) were added to the Royalty Pool of the Fund. In 

accordance with the terms of the partnership agreements, 

the Partnership provided entitlements to the Company to 

receive distributions on 1,889,459 (2007 – 2,158,478) Class 

B general partner units in the Partnership in exchange for the 

addition of these new restaurants to the Royalty Pool. 20% 

of the Additional Entitlement, 377,892 units (2007 – 431,696) 

remain unissued and are not entitled for conversion to Fund 

units until January 1, 2009 (2007 units – January 1, 2008) 

based on the actual performance of the new stores.

On January 1, 2008, adjustments to royalty payments and 

Additional Entitlement were made based on the actual 

performance of the net 40 new restaurants added to the 

Royalty Pool on January 1, 2007. Based on these adjustments, 

the Company received its pro rata portion of the remaining 

Additional Entitlement, 386,341 Fund units.

On March 13, 2008, the Company initiated the exchange of 

Class B general partner units in the Partnership for 2,945,246 

Fund units. Following this exchange, the Company sold their 

units of the Fund at $12.40 per unit to the public for gross 

proceeds of $36,521,050 and recognized a loss on sale 

of $7,431,410, net of transaction costs of $2,166,979. The 

Company recorded a decrease of $4,292,312 in the deferred 

gain as a result the increase in entitlement to Partnership 

distributions received as a result of the Partnership 

repurchasing entitlement from the Fund. 

Restaurant locations — Canada:    

   2008   2007

Corporately owned restaurants 
 included in the Royalty Pool 3   3

Franchised restaurants included 
 in the Royalty Pool  297   263

   300   266

Closure of franchised restaurant 
 included in Royalty Pool  2   —

Franchised restaurants excluded 
 from the Royalty Pool 
 (notes 26 (b))  25   34

   323   300

7. Long-term receivables:

Long-term receivables consist of the following:  

   2008   2007

Advances to companies 
owned by shareholders 
of the Company, non-interest 
bearing, unsecured with no 
specifi ed terms 
of repayment $ 1,225,739  $ 1,178,984

Promissory notes, including 
accrued interest. 
to companies owned by 
the shareholders of the 
Company, bearing interest 
at 7.6%, unsecured with 
no specifi c terms 
of repayment  18,852,123   25,034,577

  $ 20,077,862  $ 26,213,561

A provision for impaired long-term receivables of $7,615,215 has 

been recorded in relation to the $18,852,123 promissory notes 

included in long-term receivables. The Company continues to 

make every effort to collect all long-term receivable balances.

 8. Long-term investments:    

   2008   2007

Investment in Class A 
Preferred Shares of 
BP Limited Partnership 
Holdings Inc. $ 74,456  $ 74,456

Investment in Class A 
Preferred Shares of BP 
International Rights 
Holdings Inc.  1,000   1,000

Investment in 
Common Shares of 
Boston Pizza GP Inc.  20   20

  $ 75,476  $ 75,476

9. Capital assets:     

      Accumulated  Net book
2008   Cost  amortization  value

Offi ce furniture 
 and equipment $ 9,865,236  $ 5,792,618  $ 4,072,618

Offi ce furniture 
 and equipment 
 under capital lease  2,155,652   1,271,333   884,319

Leasehold 
 improvements  4,915,079   2,541,483   2,373,596

Building  1,232,525   119,277   1,113,248

Auto   24,176   22,000   2,176

   $ 18,192,668  $ 9,746,711  $ 8,445,957

          

      Accumulated  Net book
2007   Cost  amortization  value

Offi ce furniture 
 and equipment $ 8,182,775  $ 4,696,322  $ 3,486,453

Offi ce furniture 
 and equipment 
 under capital lease  2,065,268   932,470   1,132,798

Leasehold 
 improvements  4,772,930   2,121,693   2,651,237

Building  1,232,525   72,892   1,159,633

Auto   24,176   21,068   3,108

   $ 16,277,674  $ 7,844,445  $ 8,433,229

10. Other assets:     

      Accumulated  Net book
2008   Cost  amortization  value

Intangible assets 
 (“BP Rights”) $ 250,001  $ —   $ 250,001

Long-term portion 
 of deferred charges  1,049,236   —   1,049,236

Goodwill and other  231,748   175,000   56,748

   $ 1,530,985  $ 175,000  $ 1,355,985

          

      Accumulated  Net book
2007   Cost  amortization  value

Intangible assets 

 (“BP Rights”) $ 250,001  $ —  $ 250,001

Goodwill and other  231,748   158,125   73,623

   $ 481,749  $ 158,125  $ 323,624

On July 17, 2002, the Fund successfully completed an offering 

of units. A portion of the net proceeds of the offering were 

used by the Fund to indirectly acquire through an interest in 

the “BP Rights”. The Partnership acquired the BP Rights from 

the Company in exchange for cash and by issuing partnership 

interests. The Partnership and the Company entered into a 

license and royalty agreement to allow the Company the 

Canadian use of the BP Rights for a term of 99 years, for 

which the Company pays a royalty equal to 4% of the franchise 

revenues of restaurants in the “Royalty Pool”.

As a result of the consolidation of the Partnership as required 

by the adoption of AcG-15 (note 2), the BP Rights are now 

recorded at their historical cost.

11. Line of credit:

The Company has an available line of credit in the amount 

of $7,500,000 with a 180 day term to cover the Company’s 

day-to-day operating requirements through normal seasonal 

variations in the business if needed. The line of credit bears 

interest at prime and is due upon demand. The line of credit 

facility is secured by a fi rst charge over the Company’s assets 

other than the following assets: the royalty payments received 

by the Company from its franchises, the Class C general 

partnership units held by the Company and the monthly 

distribution by the Partnership on those Class C general 

partnership units. The Fund and its subsidiaries will continue 

to have a fi rst charge over these assets. The Company has, 

as part of the security granted to the Bank, agreed to pledge 

a minimum number of Class B general partner units held by 

the Company which are convertible into units of the Fund 

which would have value, at any time, equal to at least 125% 

of the amount outstanding on the Line of Credit. In addition, 

the Company is required to comply with specifi ed fi nancial 

ratios and tests including a minimum adjusted current ratio, 

a minimum ratio of cash fl ow available for debt service to 

total debt service and maximum total funded debt to EBITDA. 

Since inception in November 2007 the line of credit has been 

maintained with a nil balance.

12. New debt facility:

The Partnership has a revolving term loan in the amount of 

$20 million available to fund purchases under the Normal 

Course Issuer Bid announced on September 22, 2008 by the 

Fund. This loan bears interest at prime plus 0.50% per annum 

and has a maturity date of September 22, 2012. This loan is 

secured by a fi rst charge over the assets of the Partnership 

and is guaranteed by the Fund and its other subsidiaries. The 

key covenants for this loan are the same as the covenants 

established for the Partnership’s current operating and term 

loans. As at December 31, 2008 this loan had a balance of 

$3,874,432.
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13. Long-term debt:

Long-term debt consists of:        

   2008   2007

Term loans:

The Bank of Montreal term 
loan bearing interest at prime 
plus 0.50% per annum, with 
a maturity date of 
September 22, 2012 $ 5,000,000  $ 5,000,000

GE Capital Canada 
Equipment Financing Inc. 
term loan bearing interest 
at 6.95% per annum, 
due August 4, 2013, 
repayable in blended 
monthly instalments 
of $6,008, secured 
by restaurant equipment  287,271   337,791

GE Capital Canada 
Equipment Financing Inc. 
term loan bearing interest 
at 6.58% per annum, 
due December 18, 2013, 
repayable in blended 
monthly installments 
of $13,399, secured 
by restaurant equipment  683,515   795,308

GE Capital Canada 
Equipment Financing Inc. 
term loan bearing interest 
at prime plus 2.75% per annum, 
repayable in blended 
monthly payments of $14,672, 
due October 4, 2012, secured 
by restaurant equipment  629,165   756,729

GE Capital Canada 
Equipment Financing Inc.
 term loan bearing interest 
at prime plus 2.75% per annum, 
repayable in blended monthly 
payments of $1,129 due 
October 4, 2015, secured by 
restaurant equipment  117,537   124,389

The Bank of Montreal term 
loan bearing interest at prime 
plus 0.50% per annum, with 
a maturity date of 
September 22, 2012  3,874,432   —

Obligations under capital lease:
The Bank of Nova Scotia 
lease bearing interest at prime 
plus 2.15% per annum, 
repayable in blended monthly 
payments of $12,467, secured 
by restaurant equipment due 
December 1, 2010  281,030   667,938

Other obligations under capital 
lease bearing interest between 
2.86-2.93% per annum, 
secured by specifi c assets 
of the Company  146,718   174,485

   11,019,668   7,856,640

Current portion  539,100   1,063,239

  $ 10,480,568  $ 6,793,401

Term loans are secured by a general assignment of book debts 

and certain guarantees from the Company, shareholders and 

related companies.

The fair market value of the Company’s long-term debt is 

$9,522,107.

Principal repayments on long-term debt and capital lease 

obligations for years ending December 31 are as follows:       

Long-term debt:

2009    $ 317,410

2010      339,535

2011      363,204

2012      9,283,694

2013 and thereafter     288,077

      10,591,920

Capital lease obligations:

2009     221,690

2010      191,622

2011      14,436

2012      —

2013 and thereafter     —  

      427,748

Total     $ 11,019,668

14. Notes payable:     

   2008   2007

Loan from Boston Pizza 
Royalties Income Fund with 
interest payable monthly at 
7.5% per annum, due 
July 17, 2042 $ 24,000,000  $ 24,000,000

Promissory note payable 
to the parent company, 
non-interest bearing and 
due on demand  6,253,475   2,976,678

   30,253,475   26,976,678

Current portion  6,253,475   2,976,678

  $ 24,000,000  $ 24,000,000

The loan from the Fund arose at the time of the sale of the 

trademarks and trade names from the Company in July 

2002 and is secured by a general security agreement. The 

note may not be assigned without the prior consent of the 

Company.

The Company, as the holder of 2,400,000 Class C general 

partnership units, has the right to transfer such Class C 

general partnership units to the Boston Pizza Holdings 

Partnership in consideration for the assumption by the Boston 

Pizza Holdings Partnership of, and the concurrent release of 

the Company of its obligations with respect to, an amount of 

the indebtedness under the BP loan equal to $10.00 for each 

Class C general partnership unit transferred.

15. Other long-term liabilities:    

   2008   2007

Long-term portion 
 of incentive plan $ 314,020  $ 1,228,939

Tenant inducements  482,726   469,782

Non-controlling interest  —   345,548

  $ 796,746  $ 2,044,269

During the year, the Company accrued $1,822,365 for a 

short-term incentive plan (“STIP”) for its employees of which 

$314,019 is included in other long-term liabilities. The incentive 

pool is determined based on the number of restaurants opened 

during the year, same store sales growth and earnings before 

interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. The awards to 

executive employees are paid over a one year period and 

awards to other employees are paid over a two-year period. 

The STIP awards are recorded in administrative expenses on 

the consolidated statement of earnings (loss).

16. Income taxes:

Income tax expense as reported differs from the amount 

that would be computed by applying the combined Federal 

and provincial statutory income tax rates to earnings before 

income taxes. The reasons for the differences are as 

follows:                        

   2008   2007

Earnings (loss) before 
 income taxes  (8,477,533 )  7,978,306

Combined Canadian federal 
 and provincial tax rates  31.57%   34.42%

   (2,676,357 )  2,746,133

Increased (reduced) by:

Permanent differences  239,347   181,169

Difference between statutory 
 rate and refundable rate  553,769   (85,289 )

Refundable tax charged 
 to retained earnings  773,965   (346,312 )

Change in statutory tax rates  46,186   (932,118 )

Income tax expense 
 (recovery) $  (1,063,090 ) $ 1,563,583

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to 

signifi cant portions of the future income tax assets and 

liabilities are:                         

   2008   2007

Future income tax 
 assets (liabilities):

Long term receivables  2,465,461   —

Capital assets  (99,282 )  (104,273 )

Goodwill and other intangibles   116,943   122,215

Other accrued liabilities  202,718   —

Deferred revenue  781,350   623,561

Deferred gain  28,716,584   20,336,335

Other  53,585   —

   32,237,359   20,977,838

Current future income 
 tax assets  603,677   186,630

  $ 31,633,682  $ 20,791,208

17. Share capital:

Authorized:

Unlimited class A common shares

Unlimited class B common shares     

   2008   2007 

Issued:

104,600,000 class A 
 common shares $ 100  $ 100

18. Commitments: 

The Company is committed under operating lease contracts 

for offi ce space, restaurant space and advertising contracts. 

The minimum annual rental payments under these leases for 

the next fi ve years ending December 31 are as follows:          

2009    $  1,988,614

2010      1,924,418

2011      1,539,755

2012      1,095,478

2013 and thereafter     762,122

19. Stock option plan:

The Company established a stock option plan in the current 

year pursuant to which the Company may, from time to time, 

grant options to acquire up to 15,600,000 Class B Common 

shares of the Company (“Class B Shares”) to directors, 

offi cers and employees of the Company or its subsidiaries. 

The Company has granted options to acquire 5,840,000 Class 

B Shares to the Company’s offi cers and senior employees 

(the “Granted Options”). The exercise price of each Granted 

Option is equal to the fair market value of one Class B Share 

at the date on which the option was granted, as determined 

by a valuation formula approved by the Company’s board of 

directors. Each Granted Option may be exercised during a 

period not exceeding 10 years from the date granted. The 
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Granted Options vest 20% per year for fi ve years beginning 

on January 1, 2009. Holders of vested options under the stock 

option plan have the choice, subject to certain restrictions, 

of exercising their options to acquire Class B Shares at the 

corresponding option exercise price, or receiving a cash 

payment from the Company equivalent to the difference 

between the fair market value of the Class B Shares and the 

exercise price of the option.

The compensation cost attributable to stock-based awards 

to employees that call for settlement in cash or other assets 

at the option of the employee is recognized in operating 

expenses over the vesting period. These awards are treated 

as liability awards and are therefore measured using the 

intrinsic value of the options rather than the fair value. Changes 

in the intrinsic value of the stock option awards between the 

grant date and the measurement date result in a change in 

measurement of the liability and compensation cost. There 

was no impact on earnings in the Period, no associated 

liability and no options have been vested at this time

The following table gives details on outstanding options as at 

December 31, 2008:       

  Weighted 
 Number of average
  options exercise price 

Balance, beginning of year nil nil

Granted 5,840,000 $1.00

Exercised nil nil

Cancelled nil nil

Balance, end of year 5,840,000 $1.00

20. Company Reorganization:

On December 9th, 2008 the Company approved a formal plan 

to restructure the organization in an effort to refl ect its current 

and future business needs and to maximize support to the 

franchisees. The plan realigns personnel from a regional to 

a function management structure. The Company recorded 

expected employee related costs in relation to this plan 

of $626,148 which have been included as a non-operating 

expense on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings (Loss) 

and Comprehensive Income (Loss). An offsetting liability has 

been recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

21. Contingency:

The Company guarantees lease payments totaling $150,000 

for one of its franchisees.

22. Related party transactions:

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $67,820 

(2007 – $12,437) payable to an associated company. Included 

in accounts receivable is $92,033 (2007 – nil) due from the 

Company’s parent company. Also included in accounts 

receivable is $50,000 (2007 – $75,000) for administrative 

services provided to a related party.

The Company earned revenues of $550,651 (2007 – $408,875) 

from a company under common control of which $105,206 

(2007 – $73,301) is included in accounts receivable as at 

December 31, 2008.

Included in administrative expenses and restaurant operating 

costs are amounts paid by the Company relating to rent 

of $191,075 (2007 – $287,895) and management fees of 

$3,128,196 (2007 – $2,811,005) to companies under common 

control. Additionally, included in management fees is $664,894 

(2007 – $638,995) paid to the Company’s parent for services 

rendered.

The Company paid interest on a note payable to the Fund of 

$1,800,000 (2007 –  $1,800,000).

The Company earned $1,482,761 (2007 – $1,507,761) of 

interest and management fees from companies under 

common control. Interest and management fees are included 

in revenues.

23. Segment reporting:

Management has determined the Company operates in one 

segment, which involves franchise fee income, sales from 

company restaurants and rental income. Substantially all of 

the Company’s assets and revenues are located or earned 

in Canada. 

24. Comparative figures:

Certain of the comparative fi gures have been reclassifi ed to 

conform to the fi nancial statement presentation adopted in 

the current year.

25. Supplementary cash flow information:

(a) Change in non-cash operating items:      

   2008   2007

Accounts receivable $ 236,840  $ (1,036,573 )

Prepaid expenses  (904,823 )  473,507

Accounts payable 
 and accrued liabilities  649,785   (1,207,702 )

Income taxes payable  (281,095 )  61,367

Deferred revenue  (665,745 )  613,770

Other assets  (1,032,361 )  —

Long-term liabilities  (1,331,415 )  (3,637,510 )

  $ (3,328,814 ) $ (4,733,141 )

(b) Supplementary information:    

   2008   2007

Interest received $ 136,803  $ 203,460

Interest paid  2,377,928   2,358,518

Income taxes paid  4,709,908   3,660,212

Non-cash transactions:

Increase (decrease) in 
 refundable dividend tax 
 and future income taxes  (5,569,184 )  (3,321,232 )

Settlement of dividends 
 payable through 
 issuance of notes 
 payable  6,090,000   2,976,678

26. Subsequent events:

(a) On January 1, 2009, adjustments to royalty payments 

and Additional Entitlement were made based on the actual 

performance of 34 new restaurants added to the Royalty 

Pool on January 1, 2008. Based on these adjustments, BPI 

will receive its pro rata portion of the remaining Additional 

Entitlement, or 248,629 Fund units.

(b) On January 1, 2009, 25 new Boston Pizza Restaurants 

that opened during the period from January 1, 2008 to 

December 31, 2008 were added to the Royalty Pool while 

two restaurants closed during the period were removed from 

the Royalty Pool. The Franchise sales of these net 23 new 

restaurants has been estimated at $43.8 million. The total 

number of restaurants in the Royalty Pool has increased to 

323. As a result of the contribution of the additional net sales 

to the Royalty Pool, and assuming 100% of the Additional 

Entitlement, BPI’s Additional Entitlement is equivalent to 

1,175,106 (2007 – 1,889,459) Fund units. BPI will also receive 

a proportionate increase in monthly distributions from the 

Partnership. Of the Additional Entitlement, 20% (2009 –  

235,021 units; 2008 – 377,892 units), remain unissued and 

are not eligible for conversion to Fund units until January 

1, 2010 (2008 units – January 1, 2009) based on the actual 

performance of the new stores.
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BOSTON PIZZA ROYALTIES INCOME FUND

Glossary and Investor Information

BP Rights (a) all rights of BPI in Canada, including all Canadian trade-mark registrations and 

  pending Canadian trade-mark applications, in and to the following trademarks;

(b) all rights of BPI in Canada in and to any unregistered trademarks used in the business of

 BPI which contain the word “Boston” or “Boston’s” or the letters “BP” or the BP design; 

 and

(c) all rights of BPI in Canada in any trade names confusingly similar to any of the foregoing 

 trade-marks.

BPI Boston Pizza International Inc.

Casual Dining $10 – $20 average cheque, full table service, themed atmosphere, generally little take-out service.

CRFA Canadian Restaurant and Foodservices Association.

Fiscal Year January 1 to December 31 for both the Fund and BPI.

Franchise Sales Franchise Sales is Gross Revenue after deducting revenue from the sale of liquor, beer, wine 

 and tobacco and approved national discounts and excluding applicable sales and similar types.

Full Service Restaurants Establishments that may sell alcoholic beverages, provide take-out services, operate a bar, or 

present live entertainment in addition to serving food and non-alcoholic beverages. This 

industry includes full service establishments known as fi ne-dining restaurants, family 

restaurants and restaurant-bars. Source: Statistics Canada

Fund Boston Pizza Royalties Income Fund.

Gross Sales / System Sales Gross Revenue is (i) revenue of the corporate Boston Pizza Restaurants in Canada owned by 

BPI and (ii) revenue reported to BPI by franchised Boston Pizza Restaurants in Canada, without 

audit or other form of independent assistance in the case of both (i) and (ii).

IPO Initial Public Offering — date July 17, 2002.

Non-Controlling Interest BPI’s indirect interest in the Fund.

Partnership Boston Pizza Royalties Limited Partnership.

Royalty Pool In any period, those Boston Pizza Restaurants on which royalty equating to 4% of franchise 

 sales /revenue is to be paid to the Fund.

Sales Growth The increase in gross revenue generated from Boston Pizza Restaurants across Canada over 

 a previous period.

SSSG The increase in annual gross revenue of a particular Boston Pizza Restaurant as compared

 to sales for the same period in the previous year, where the restaurant was open for a

 full 12 months in each year.

Unit A trust unit of the Fund, each unit representing an equal undivided interest therein.

Unitholders At the relevant time, the holder(s) of the Units.

20-day Weighted Average As at any date or for any period, the weighted average price at which the Units have traded 

Unit Price on a Stock Exchange during the period of 20 consecutive trading days ending on the fi fth 

trading day before such date or the end of the period. The weighed average price is defi ned 

as the amount obtained by dividing the aggregate sale price of all the Units traded on the 

relevant Stock Exchange during such period divided by the total number of Units so traded.

BOSTON PIZZA ROYALTIES INCOME FUND

Unitholder Information

Corporate Office
5500 Parkwood Way

Richmond, BC, V6V 2M4

Investor Relations
5500 Parkwood Way

Richmond, BC, V6V 2M4

Tel: 604-270-1108

Fax: 604-270-4188

Email: investorrelations@bostonpizza.com

Web: www.bpincomefund.com

Trustees of the Fund

John L. Cowperthwaite

Corporate Director

William C. Brown

Corporate Director

W. Murray Sadler

Corporate Director

Transfer Agent
Computershare Investor Services Inc.

Stock Exchange Listing
Toronto Stock Exchange: BPF.UN

Auditors
KPMG LLP

Corporate Counsel
Borden Ladner Gervais LLP

Registered and Records Office
#1200-200 Burrard Street

Vancouver, BC V7X 1T2

Directors of Boston Pizza GP Inc. –
The Managing General Partner 
of Boston Pizza Royalties Limited 
Partnership

John L. Cowperthwaite

Director*

Corporate Director

William C. Brown

Director*

Corporate Director

W. Murray Sadler

Director*

Corporate Director

George C. Melville

Director

Chief Executive Offi cer

Mark Powell

Director

Chief Financial Offi cer

*Audit Committee and Governance Committee

BOSTON PIZZA INTERNATIONAL INC.

Shareholder Information

Corporate Office
5500 Parkwood Way

Richmond, BC, V6V 2M4

Eastern Office
Suite 708 – 1 City Centre Drive

Mississauga, ON L5B 1M2

Québec Office
3030 boulevard Le Carrefour

bureau 802, Laval, PQ, H7P 2P5

Management Team

Jim Treliving

Chairman & Owner

George C. Melville

Chairman & Owner

Mark Pacinda

President and Chief Operating Offi cer

Mark Powell

Chief Financial Offi cer
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BOSTON PIZZA

Key Management

“Over the past 45 years, Boston Pizza has grown from a single 

location in Edmonton, Alberta to become Canada’s #1 casual 

dining brand with over 325 locations across Canada today. 

The recipe for our success has been quite simple: excellent 

customer experiences, profitable franchisees and a recognized 

and appealing brand.”
Jim Treliving
Chairman & Owner Boston Pizza International Inc.

George Melville
Chairman & Owner Boston Pizza International Inc.
Director and Chief Executive Offi cer, Boston Pizza GP Inc.

“It all comes down to good people. From our franchisees 

and business partners to the corporate and restaurant staff 

members, Boston Pizza is in the people business. It takes 

an incredible team effort to serve over 40 million guests a 

year!”

Mark Pacinda
President and Chief Operating Offi cer Boston Pizza International Inc.

“In 2008, Boston Pizza International was again named as 

one of Canada’s “50 Best Managed Private Companies” and 

“Most Admired Corporate Cultures.” We are very proud to 

receive this recognition and look forward to building on our 

success in the years ahead.”

Mark Powell
Chief Financial Offi cer Boston Pizza International Inc.
Director and Chief Financial Offi cer, Boston Pizza GP Inc.

“Same store sales growth is the key metric for Unitholders of the 

Fund and Boston Pizza has averaged 5.7% SSSG annually over the 

last 10 years. This sales growth has translated into 13 increases 

to monthly distributions for a total increase of 38% since the 

initial public offering in 2002. ”

 K E Y  M A N A G E M E N T  6 0  B O S T O N  P I Z Z A

Our Mission

To be a world class franchisor through selecting and training people to 

profitably manage an outstanding foodservice business.

To achieve this goal we are innovative and responsive in our approach in 

business. We work as a team providing attention to detail but never losing 

sight of the larger picture. We recognize the need to provide leadership in 

all areas of the operations, marketing and restaurant development.
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